
COMBINING 
CAPABILITIES 
& RESOURCES 
FOR SUCCESS

Annual Report 2010

                                                      T
A

T
 S

E
N

G
 P

A
C

K
A

G
IN

G
 G

R
O

U
P

 L
T

D
                                                                                      A

n
n

u
a
l R

e
p

o
rt 2

0
1
0

   

Tat Seng Packaging Group Ltd

28 Senoko Drive, Singapore 758214

Tel : (65) 6257 5558

Fax : (65) 6754 7953

E-mail : corpsec@tspg.sg

United Packaging Industries Pte. Ltd.

35 Tuas View Crescent, Singapore 637608

Tel : (65) 6861 0018

Fax : (65) 6861 2728

E-mail : sales@upi.sg

Tat Seng Packaging (Suzhou) Co., Ltd.

達成包裝製品 (蘇州) 有限公司
地址 : 蘇州市相城區望亭鎮問渡路88號, 郵編215155
電話 : (86) 0512-6538 0538
傳真 : (86) 0512-6538 9342
電子郵件 : salesa@tspg.com.cn

Nantong Hengcheng Paper Industry Co., Ltd.

南通恆成紙業有限公司
地址 : 江蘇省如皋市石莊鎮新生港綜合工業園區, 郵編 226531
電話 : (86) 0513-6816 3612
傳真 : (86) 0513-6816 3608

SINGAPORE

CHINA

Hefei Dansun Packaging Co., Ltd.

合肥丹盛包裝有限公司
地址 : 合肥市經濟技術開發區紫蓬路105號, 郵編230601
電話 : (86) 0551-3819 166
傳真 : (86) 0551-3810 123
電子郵件 : sales@hfds.com.cn

Nantong Tat Seng Packaging Co., Ltd.

南通達成包裝製品有限公司
地址 : 南通市通州區西亭鎮西禪寺村（亭南橫路）
電話 : (86) 0513-8653 8888
傳真 : (86) 0513-8653 3999



Contents
2  Executive Chairman’s Statement

5  Financial Highlights

6  Board of Directors

8  Corporate Information

9  Corporate Reports

Designed and produced by Toppan Vite Pte Ltd



Our Mission
To be the preferred corrugated products supplier.

Tat Seng strives to position ourselves as the fi rst name that comes to mind 
whenever cartons and other corrugated packaging products are required.

Tat Seng progresses through continuous improvements, so as to remain 
a key supplier in the paper packaging industry and to maintain our 
continuous growth in the marketplace.
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Executive Chairman’s
Statement

2010 was a year of recovery for the 
global economy. The Gross Domestic 
Product (“GDP”) of Singapore and 
China grew by 14.5% and 10.3% 
respectively. On that note, I am 
pleased to report that the Group’s 
turnover rose strongly by 35.2% to 
surpass S$150 million. The Chinese 
government’s growing emphasis and 
promotion of domestic consumption, 
coupled with rising standards of 
living in China, has been a strong 
driver in increasing demand for paper 
packaging products in a wide variety 
of industries. The Group’s foresight in 
deploying our business in China at an 
early stage has allowed us to develop 
a strong foundation, which is a key 
factor for the rapid growth we have 
experienced in the recent years.

Even with global economic growth 
seen slowing down in the second half 
of 2010, coupled with the resurgence 
of inflationary worries, the Group was 
well-prepared in meeting challenges 
that came along as we continued to 
grow from strength to strength.

CONSOLIDATING 
CAPABILITIES AND 
RESOURCES FOR 
GREATER SUCCESS

China remains our largest market 
segment by geographical location. As 
we continue to expand our presence 
in this vast and growing market, the 
Group recognises the need to manage 
our China operations in a more 
integrated and efficient manner.

Hence, in FY2010, we established 
our China operational headquarters 
based in Suzhou to consolidate and 
share common resources amongst 
our production facilities in Suzhou, 
Hefei, Tongzhou and Rugao. This 
would allow us to streamline our 
operations, strengthen our internal 
controls and improve communications 
within the Group with the objective 
of facilitating organic growth of our 
China operations through higher 
productivity and efficiency.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

In FY2010, on the back of the global 
economic recovery, the Group’s 
turnover increased by 35.2% or 
S$39.92 million to S$153.28 million 
from S$113.36 million recorded 
in the previous financial year. The 
strong revenue growth was mainly 
contributed by robust market demand 
from China and the inclusion of the 
full-year turnover results of Nantong 
Hengcheng Paper Industry Co., Ltd. 
(“Hengcheng”), which the Group 
acquired a 70% equity interest of, 
in FY2009.

The Group’s cost of sales increased 
by 42.7% or S$37.85 million to 
S$126.53 million from S$88.68 
million in the previous financial year. 
This was mainly due to the higher 
raw material prices. The substantial 
increase in raw material cost had 
impaired the Group’s gross profit 
margin. However, the Group was 
able to recover from this impairment 
partially from sales to customers, 

On behalf of the Board of Directors, it is 
my pleasure to present the Annual Report 
of Tat Seng Packaging Group Ltd (“the 
Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively, 
“the Group”) for the financial year (“FY”) 
ended 31 December 2010.
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despite intense competition. As 
a result, the Group’s gross profit 
increased by a modest 8.4% from 
S$24.68 million to S$26.75 million.

As for other income, this was reduced 
by S$0.16 million as compared to the 
previous financial year as a result of 
the lower dividend income received in 
FY2010 from investment securities.

In line with the higher turnover 
registered by the Group, distribution 
and selling expenses, as well as 
general and administrative expenses 
rose by S$1.52 million and S$0.93 
million respectively over the previous 
financial year. Other expenses 
increased by S$0.36 million following 
higher provisions for doubtful debts 
and net exchange losses incurred in 
FY2010.

Finance expenses rose by S$0.34 
million due mainly to increased 
borrowings from banks and PSC 
Corporation Ltd. in order to finance 
and support the Group’s expansion 
plans.

During the year, the Group generated 
a positive cash flow of S$10.49 
million from our operating activities, 
and our cash and cash equivalent of 
S$17.2 million as at 31 December 
2010 was also S$4.0 million higher 
compared to the previous year. With 
a stronger cash position, the Group 
is able to expand and capitalise on 
opportunities that will arise in the 
coming year.

Overall, the Group’s profit before 
tax showed a decrease of 13.1% to 
S$8.25 million in FY2010 compared 
to S$9.49 million in FY2009 as a 
result of lower margins due to rising 
material costs. Profit after tax also fell 
correspondingly by 17.5% to S$6.51 
million in FY2010 as compared to 
S$7.89 million in FY2009.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Singapore Operations

Our two Singapore operations, i.e. 
the Company and United Packaging 
Industries Pte. Ltd. (“UPI”), saw their 

total revenue grow by 14.5% in 
FY2010 as compared to FY2009.

However, profit growth was slightly 
impaired by the substantial increase 
in raw material costs. In light of the 
inflationary pressures, the Group took 
active steps to control costs and raise 
productivity. One of our initiatives 
was to enhance the production 
control system in our Senoko plant to 
better manage paper waste. We also 
reduced production costs and raised 
production output through improved 
work processes, thereby enabling 
us to achieve higher productivity in 
FY2010. Such efforts have paid off 
as we see our Singapore segment 
continuing to generate stable profits 
for the Group.

China Operations

With the completion of the Group’s 
investment in Hengcheng in Rugao 
(“如皋“), we set out to implement 
our expansion plan in Tongzhou 
(“通州”) via Hengcheng’s subsidiary, 
Nangtong Tat Seng Packaging Co., 
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Ltd. (“Nantong TS”). In FY2010, 
Nantong TS completed the purchase 
of a land parcel, which measured 
26,586 square meters, for the 
construction of our new production 
line.

In March 2010, the project teams 
from our China headquarters in 
Suzhou completed the layout plan 
of the new plant in Tongzhou. We 
have also completed the selection 
and installation of the main and 
auxiliary equipment after taking into 
consideration the market demand 
in the region of Nantong. The 
Tongzhou plant is designed to be 
a high efficiency yet cost-efficient 
corrugated board manufacturer. In 
addition to the built-in area of 13,600 
square meters, another built-in area 
of 2,468 square meters of factory 
space was constructed to cater for 
future production requirement. 
Coupled with the substantial increase 
in building materials cost, the total 
capital expenditure had amounted 
to approximately RMB39 million. The 
new plant is expected to commence 
operations by the first quarter of 
2011 with an expected production 
capacity of 8 million square meters 
per month.

In FY2010, the Group completed the 
acquisition of an additional 14.4% 
equity interest in Hefei Dansun 
Packaging Co., Ltd. (“Hefei Dansun”), 
increasing our stake to a total of 
94.4%. Our Suzhou headquarters 
also concluded the planning for the 
expansion of our plant in Hefei, 
including the selection of a new 
corrugating line. The benefits from 
our expanded operations at our 
Hefei plant are expected to come on 
stream by the third quarter of 2011, 
bringing the plant’s total production 
capacity to 9 million square meters 
per month.

Furthermore, our Suzhou plant 
purchased a large 3-colour flexo 
printer with a die-cut slotter, 
measuring 2.2 meter wide, with all 
necessary foundation work completed 
as of December last year. This newly 
acquired equipment is expected to 
put into operations in the second 
quarter of 2011. This new additional 
equipment will enable our Suzhou 
plant to secure large packaging box 
businesses in industries such as the 
photovoltaic and furniture industries. 
We will reap these new revenue 
streams in the coming year and this 
addition is expected to improve the 
gross profit margin for the Suzhou 
plant.

MOVING FORWARD

With regard to our Singapore 
operations, we will continue to focus 
on implementing measures to improve 
our operating margins. Some of the 
key areas that will be targeted include 
the review of work processes with the 
objective of increasing productivity, 
and reducing operating costs. In 
addition, efforts will be devoted to 
study how operations at our two local 
plants can be further streamlined to 
achieve a more effective and efficient 
use of resources.

The Group is also committed to 
manage costs by controlling inventory 
levels appropriately and reduce 
reliance on suppliers by seeking more 
sources of materials and other related 
products. As part of our on-going 
cost management efforts, we will 
negotiate better payment terms with 
suppliers. These measures will enable 
the Group to remain competitive on 
the back of heightening inflationary 
pressure.

China will be implementing its 
“Twelfth Five-Year” Plan from 2011-
2015, which emphasises strongly 
on the expansion of domestic 
consumption, and a reduction 
in excessive reliance on overseas 
demand to spur economic growth. 
In line with this policy, growth in 
local demand for consumer goods will 
drive an increase in demand for paper 
packaging. In expectation of the 
emerging business opportunities that 
will arise from this positive landscape, 
the Group has in the past year made 
many preparations to strengthen 
our China operations. This exercise 
is meant not only to increase our 
current sales of corrugated packaging 
products in 2011 but also to build 
up the foundation for future growth 
in sales.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Finally, on behalf of the Board of 
Directors, I would like to express my 
heartfelt appreciation to the Group’s 
board members, management team 
and staff for their determination 
and sheer dedication towards the 
business. I would also like to take this 
opportunity to thank all shareholders, 
business associates, partners and 
customers for their generous support. 
I look forward to your commitment 
and continued support as we journey 
along to become the preferred 
corrugated products supplier in 
Singapore and in the regions of China 
where the Group has a presence.

Dr Allan Yap
Executive Chairman
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Financial Highlights
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Dr Allan Yap
Executive Chairman

Dr John Chen Seow Phun
Deputy Chairman

Foo Der Rong
Executive Director

Loh See Moon
Managing Director/
Chief Executive Offi cer

Dr Allan Yap
Executive Chairman
Dr Allan Yap was appointed as Executive Chairman of our Group on 21 November 2005. His portfolio includes 28 years of 
experience in finance, investment and banking. Dr Yap is the Executive Chairman of PSC Corporation Ltd and Intraco Limited. 
He is the Executive Director of Rosedale Hotel Holdings Limited (formerly known as Wing On Travel (Holdings) Limited) and 
the Chairman of Hanny Holdings Limited, both of which are Hong Kong-listed companies. Dr Yap is the Chairman of China 
Enterprises Limited, the shares of which are traded on the OTC Securities Market in the United States of America. Dr Yap 
is the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Burcon NutraScience Corporation, a Canada-listed company. He received an 
Honorary Degree of Doctor of Laws from the University of Victoria, Canada.

Dr John Chen Seow Phun
Deputy Chairman/Non-Executive Director
Dr John Chen joined our Group on 21 November 2005 as a Non-Executive Director and was concurrently appointed as 
Deputy Chairman of our Board. Dr Chen sits on the Board of a number of publicly listed companies. He was a Member 
of Parliament from 1988 to 2006, and served as the Assistant Secretary General of the National Trades Union Congress 
from 1991 to 1997. Dr Chen was a Minister of State from 1997 to 2001. He is presently the Managing Director of JCL 
Business Development Pte Ltd, and the Chairman of SAC Capital Private Limited. Dr Chen has been a Board member of 
the Economic Development Board, the Housing & Development Board, the Port of Singapore Authority and Singapore 
Power Ltd.

Mr Loh See Moon
Managing Director/Chief Executive Officer
Mr Loh See Moon has been appointed as Managing Director/Chief Executive Officer of our Group since 21 November 
2005. Mr Loh was first appointed as an Executive Director and Factory Manager in 1977, before being promoted to 
the position of General Manager in 1981. Prior to his current appointment, Mr Loh was the Deputy Managing Director 
of our Group.

Mr Loh has more than 35 years of experience in the corrugated paper products industry and has been overseeing China 
operations. He holds a Bachelor of Science Degree from the Nanyang University.

Mr Foo Der Rong
Executive Director
Mr Foo Der Rong was appointed as Executive Director of our Group since 21 November 2005. He has been holding the 
position of Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer of PSC Corporation Ltd for the past 8 years and is presently 
the Executive Director of Intraco Limited. Both of these companies are listed on the mainboard of the Singapore 
Exchange Securities Trading Limited.

Mr Foo graduated with a Bachelor of Commerce degree from Nanyang University. He has a wealth of experience and 
knowledge in business development, corporate restructuring, investment strategies and operations management in 
FMCG, services and manufacturing.

Mr Foo is also active in community service and is the Vice Chairman of Teck Ghee Community Club.

Ms Cheong Poh Hua
Executive Director
Ms Cheong Poh Hua first joined the Company in September 1981 and was promoted to Finance and Administration 
Manger in 1984. Prior to joining the Company, she was an auditor in S.L. Chua & Company between 1978 and 1981. 
On 1 July 2002, she was appointed the Executive Director of the Group.

Ms Cheong is responsible for overseeing our Group’s accounting and financial matters as well as the administrative 
affairs. She obtained a Bachelor of Commerce Degree in Accountancy from the Nanyang University in 1978. She is also 
a non-practising member of the Institute of Certified Public Accountants of Singapore (“ICPAS”) and a Fellow Member 
of the CPA Australia.
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Cheong Poh Hua
Executive Director

Lien Kait Long
Independent Director

Kuik See Juan 
Independent Director

Chee Teck Kwong Patrick
Independent Director

Mr Chee Teck Kwong Patrick
Independent Director
Mr Chee Teck Kwong Patrick, PBM, was appointed as the Independent Director of the Group and Chairman of the 
Remuneration Committee on 24 November 2005. Mr Chee holds a Bachelor of Laws (Hons) Degree from the University 
of Singapore. Mr Chee is admitted as a Solicitor of the Senior Courts of England and Wales. Since 1980, he has been 
an advocate and solicitor of the Supreme Court of the Republic of Singapore. He is now practicing as a Senior Legal 
Consultant with KhattarWong.

Mr Chee is a Notary Public and a Commissioner for Oaths. He is a member of Singapore Institute of Arbitrators and 
Singapore Institute of Directors. He also sits on the Board of other public listed companies.

Mr Chee is active in community service and is the Vice Chairman of Teck Ghee Community Club and the Organising 
Chairman of National Street Soccer League. Mr Chee is the recipient of the National Day Awards 2003 – The Public 
Service Medal (Pingat Bakti Masyarakat) from the President of Republic of Singapore.

Mr Lien Kait Long
Independent Director
Mr Lien Kait Long was appointed as the Independent Director of the Group and Chairman of the Audit Committee 
on 24 November 2005. He has extensive experience in accounting and finance, corporate management and business 
investment. He currently serves as an Independent Director on the board of several Singapore and Chinese companies 
listed on the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited.

The listed companies that he has present and prior experience in are from diverse industries including manufacturing, 
telecommunications, offshore and marine, oil and gas service provider, stocklist cum trading, textile and food and 
beverage. He has held a number of senior management positions, as well as, executive directorships in various public 
and private corporations in Singapore, Hong Kong and China. Between March 2004 and March 2006, he was the 
Deputy President of Shenzhen Flink Investment & Development Co., Ltd. China. Prior to that, Mr Lien was the Finance 
Director of PDC Corp. Ltd. between 2002 and 2003, and an Executive Director in China Strategic Holdings Limited 
Hong Kong from 1998 to 2002. Between 1996 and 1998, Mr Lien was the General Manager in charge of the China 
division of Hong Leong Corporation Limited and was responsible for overseeing the group’s joint venture operations in 
China. He was also the Director of China Yuchai International Ltd at that time. From 1993 to 1996, he was in charge of 
international operations of the RGM Group, a conglomerate of diverse businesses and was also a director in charge of 
international operations in Asia Pacific Resources International Limited. He was the Finance Director of China Strategic 
Holdings Limited Hong Kong from 1992 to 1993. From 1981 to 1992, Mr Lien was the General Manager (Finance and 
Investment) of United Industrial Corporation Ltd. He was the Group Accountant cum Personal Assistant to Executive 
Chairman of the Industrial and Commercial Bank Ltd Singapore from 1974 to 1981.

Mr Lien holds a degree in Bachelor of Commerce from Nanyang University, and is a fellow of the Institute of Certified 
Public Accountants of Singapore since July 2004 and of CPA Australia since May 2004.  

Mr Kuik See Juan
Independent Director
Mr Kuik See Juan was appointed as an Independent Director of our Group on 14 February 2001. He was appointed 
as Chairman of the Nominating Committee of our Group on 24 November 2005. From 1972 to 1981, Mr Kuik held 
various senior officer positions with the Bank of America NT & SA in Singapore and Jakarta. Thereafter, he spent more 
than 20 years as Executive Director in a number of private and public listed companies in the region. Currently, he has 
been appointed as an Independent Director in four other companies listed on the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading 
Limited. Since 1969, Mr Kuik has been an Associate Member of the Chartered Institute of Bankers, U.K., currently 
known as the Institute of Financial Services.
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Dr John Chen Seow Phun Deputy Chairman
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 Chief Executive Officer
Foo Der Rong Executive Director
Cheong Poh Hua Executive Director
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Chew Kok Liang

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Lien Kait Long Chairman
Chee Teck Kwong Patrick
Kuik See Juan
Dr. John Chen Seow Phun
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Chee Teck Kwong Patrick Chairman
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Kuik See Juan Chairman
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Tricor Barbinder Share Registration Services
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Corporate Governance Statement

The Board of Directors (“the Board”) of Tat Seng Packaging Group Ltd (“the “Company”) is committed to complying 

with the Code of Corporate Governance 2005 (“the Code”) so as to achieve high standard of corporate governance 

within the Group. The Company believes that good corporate governance provides the framework for an ethical and 

accountable corporate environment, which will safeguard the interests of shareholders. The Company has generally 

adhered to the principles and guidelines as set out in the Code, which are highlighted in this statement that were in 

place during the financial year ended 31 December 2010 (”FY2010”).

A. BOARD MATTERS

The Board’s Conduct of its Affairs

Principle 1: Every company should be headed by an effective Board to lead and control the company. 

The Board is collectively responsible for the success of the company. The Board works with Management 

to achieve this and Management remains accountable to the Board.

The Board’s primary role is to protect and enhance long-term shareholders’ value. In addition to its statutory 

duties, the principal functions of the Board are to:

(a) set and direct long-term vision, strategic plans and direction of the Group;

(b) review and approve major funding proposals, annual budgets, acquisitions and disposals, investment and 

divestment proposals of the Company;

(c) conduct periodic review of the Group’s internal control, financial performance, compliance practices and 

resource allocation;

(d) review and endorse the recommended framework of remuneration for the Board and key executives;

(e) assume the responsibilities for corporate governance;

(f) establish a proper risk management system to ensure that key potential risks faced by the Group are 

properly identified and managed; and

(g) set the Company’s values and standards, and ensure that obligations to shareholders and others are 

understood and met.

Presently, the Board comprises four (4) Executive Directors, three (3) Independent Directors and one (1) 

Non-Executive Director. The respective director’s profile is set out in the Board of Directors’ section of this Annual 

Report.

The Board is assisted by three Board Committees namely, the Audit Committee (“AC”), the Nominating 

Committee (“NC”) and the Remuneration Committee (“RC”). The terms of reference which set out the roles, 

authorities and operating procedures of the respective committees are clearly defined and monitored by the 

Board regularly.

The Board conducts regular scheduled meetings at least twice a year. Ad-hoc meetings are convened as 

appropriate to address any specific significant matters that may arise. Under the Company’s Articles of Association, 

tele-conferencing or other similar forms of communication are allowed at Board Meetings.
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The attendance of directors at the meetings of the Board and various Board Committees held during the financial 
year 2010 are as follows:

Meetings

Name of Director

Board Audit Committee
Nominating 
Committee

Remuneration 
Committee

No.
Held

No.
Attended

No.
Held

No.
Attended

No.
Held

No.
Attended

No.
Held

No.
Attended

Dr Allan Yap 2 2 NA NA NA NA NA NA

Dr John Chen Seow Phun 2 2 2 2 NA NA NA NA

Mr Loh See Moon 2 2 NA NA NA NA NA NA

Mr Foo Der Rong 2 2 NA NA NA NA NA NA

Ms Cheong Poh Hua 2 2 NA NA NA NA NA NA

Mr Lien Kait Long 2 2 2 2 1 1 1 1

Mr Chee Teck Kwong Patrick 2 2 2 2 1 1 1 1

Mr Kuik See Juan 2 2 2 2 1 1 1 1

NA: Not applicable.

Board Composition and Guidance

Principle 2: There should be a strong and independent element on the Board, which is able to exercise 
objective judgement on corporate affairs independently, in particular, from Management. No individual 
or small group of individuals should be allowed to dominate the Board’s decision making.

The NC adopts the Code’s definition of what constitutes an independent director in its review and has determined 
the independence of each director on an annual basis.

The Board currently comprises eight (8) directors, three (3) of whom are considered independent by the NC. 
The present composition of the Board complies with the Code’s guidelines that independent directors make up 
at least one third of the Board. The current directors’ appointments and memberships on the Board committees 
are as follows:

Name of Director Position
Board of
Directors

Audit
Committee

Nominating
Committee

Remuneration
 Committee

Dr Allan Yap Executive Chairman Chairman – – –

Dr John Chen Seow Phun Non-Executive Director/
Deputy Chairman

Deputy
Chairman

Member – –

Mr Loh See Moon Managing Director/
Chief Executive Director

Member – – –

Mr Foo Der Rong Executive Director Member – – –

Ms Cheong Poh Hua Executive Director Member – – –

Mr Lien Kait Long Non-Executive Director/
Independent Director

Member Chairman Member Member

Mr Chee Teck Kwong Patrick Non-Executive Director/
Independent Director

Member Member Member Chairman

Mr Kuik See Juan Non-Executive Director/
Independent Director

Member Member Chairman Member

The Board has examined its size and is of the view that the current composition is appropriate for effective 

decision-making, taking into account the scope and nature of the Group’s operations.
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The NC is also satisfied that the Board comprises directors with diverse expertise that as a group, provides core 

competencies of knowledge and business experience to govern the Group and contribute effectively. The profile 

of each director is presented in the Board of Directors’ section of this Annual Report.

Name of Director

Date of
Appointment/
Date of Last 
Re-Election

Directorships in other listed
companies and other major 

appointments

Past directorships in 
other listed companies 

and other major 
appointments over the 
preceding three years

Dr Allan Yap 21 Nov 2005/
23 Apr 2009

Executive Chairman of Intraco 
Limited

Executive Chairman of PSC 
Corporation Ltd

Chairman, Executive Director of 
Hanny Holdings Limited

Executive Director of Rosedale 
Hotel Holdings Limited (formerly 
known as Wing On Travel 
(Holdings) Limited)

Chairman, CEO and Director of 
China Enterprises Limited

Chairman, CEO and Director of 
Burcon NutraScience Corporation

Executive Director of See 
Corporation Limited

Executive Director of Neo 
Telemedia Limited (formerly 
known as Big Media Group 
Limited)

Director of MRI Holdings 
Limited (In members’ 
voluntary liquidation)

Dr John Chen
Seow Phun

21 Nov 2005/
22 Apr 2010

Chairman and Independent 
Director of Matex International 
Limited

Chairman and Independent 
Director of Fu Yu Corporation 
Limited

Deputy Chairman and Non-
Executive Director of PSC 
Corporation Ltd

Independent Director of Thai 
Village Holdings Ltd, OKP 
Holdings Limited, Hiap Seng 
Engineering Ltd, and HLH Group 
Limited

Independent Director of 
Hongguo International 
Holdings Limited (Delisted)
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Name of Director

Date of
Appointment/
Date of Last 
Re-Election

Directorships in other listed
companies and other major 

appointments

Past directorships in 
other listed companies 

and other major 
appointments over the 
preceding three years

Mr Loh See Moon 22 Dec 1977 Nil Nil

Mr Foo Der Rong 21 Nov 2005/
22 Apr 2010

Executive Director of Intraco 
Limited

Managing Director & Chief 
Executive Officer of PSC 
Corporation Ltd

Independent Director of 
Sino Techfibre Ltd and 
China Farm Equipment 
Limited

Ms Cheong Poh Hua 1 July 2002/
24 Apr 2008

Nil Nil

Mr Kuik See Juan 14 Feb 2001/
22 Apr 2010

Independent Director of Super 
Group Limited, China Kangda 
Food Company Limited, China 
Farm Equipment Limited, China 
Yuanbang Property Holdings 
Limited

Nil

Mr Chee Teck 
Kwong Patrick

24 Nov 2005/
23 Apr 2009

Director of CSC Holdings Limited

Independent Director of Ramba 
Energy Limited, PSC Corporation 
Ltd, Singapore Windsor Holdings 
Ltd, Hengxin Technology Ltd, Hai 
Leck Holdings Limited and China 
International Holdings Limited

Independent Director of 
King’s Safetywear Limited 
(Delisted)

Mr Lien Kait Long 24 Nov 2005/
23 Apr 2009

Director of China Enterprises 
Limited

Non-Executive Director/
Independent Director of PSC 
Corporation Ltd

Independent Director of 8Telecom 
International Holdings Co., 
Ltd., China Jishan Holdings 
Limited, Ocean International 
Holdings Limited, Falcon Energy 
Group Limited, Youcan Foods 
International Limited, CMZ 
Holdings Ltd, Kian Ho Bearings 
Ltd and Viking Offshore and 
Marine Ltd

Independent Director of 
Delong Holdings Limited 
and Memstar Technology 
Ltd

Director of MRI Holdings 
Limited and MRI 
Infrastructure Holdings 
Ltd (In member’s voluntary 
liquidation)
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Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Principle 3: There should be a clear division of responsibilities at the top of the company – the working 

of the Board and the executive responsibility of the company’s business – which will ensure a balance of 

power and authority, such that no one individual represents a considerable concentration of power.

There is a clear separation of roles and responsibilities between the Executive Chairman and the Chief Executive 

Officer (“CEO”), which ensures that there is an appropriate balance of power and authority, increased 

accountabilities and greater capacity of the Board for independent decision making at the highest level of the 

Company. These positions are held by Dr Allan Yap and Mr Loh See Moon respectively.

The Chairman leads the Board and ensures compliance with the Company’s guidelines on corporate governance. 

The CEO is responsible for the overall management, strategic direction and growth of the Group. In addition to 

the day-to-day running of the Group, the CEO plays a leading role in developing the businesses and carries out 

the strategic plans of the Board and to ensure that the Board is kept abreast of the Group’s operations.

Board Membership

Principle 4: There should be a formal and transparent process for the appointment of new directors 

to the Board.

The NC comprises three (3) members, all of whom are Independent and Non-Executive Directors as set out 

below:

(a) Mr Kuik See Juan (Chairman)

(b) Mr Lien Kait Long (Member)

(c) Mr Chee Teck Kwong Patrick (Member)

The NC meeting is generally conducted at least once a year. The NC has adopted a set of Terms of Reference 

and its principle functions are inter alia, as follows:

(a) to make recommendations to the Board on all board appointments having regard to the director’s 

contribution and performance;

(b) to determine annually whether or not a director is independent, bearing in mind the definition as set out 

in the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST on a yearly basis;

(c) to decide whether a director is able to and has adequately carried out his duties as a director of the 

company in particular where the director concerned has multiple board representations; and

(d) to evaluate and assess the effectiveness of the Board as a whole.
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The Company’s Articles of Association requires that at least one-third of the directors shall retire by rotation at 

every Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) and any newly appointed director is subject for retirement until the 

next AGM following his appointment. Retiring directors are eligible to submit themselves for re-nomination and 

re-election at regular intervals. The Managing Director is not subject to retirement by rotation.

The following directors will retire by rotation and seek re-election at the forthcoming AGM:

(1) Mr Chee Teck Kwong Patrick

(2) Mr Lien Kait Long

(3) Ms Cheong Poh Hua

The NC has reviewed the independence of each director for financial year 2010 in accordance with the Code’s 

definition of independence and is satisfied that one-third of the Board comprises Independent Directors.

Board Performance

Principle 5: There should be a formal assessment of the effectiveness of the Board as a whole.

The NC is responsible for setting the performance criteria to assess the effectiveness of the Board. The 

performance evaluation takes into consideration a number of factors including the size and composition of the 

Board, the Board’s access to information, achievement of financial target, Board processes and other factors set 

out in the Code.

During the financial year 2010, the NC had conducted a formal assessment of the Board’s performance and all 

the NC members attended the meeting.

Access to Information

Principle 6: In order to fulfil their responsibilities, Board members should be provided with complete, 

adequate and timely information prior to Board meetings and on an on-going basis.

The directors are provided with relevant Board papers and sufficient information prior to each scheduled Board 

meeting. The Company Secretary administers, attends and prepares minutes of the Board meetings and assists 

the Chairman in ensuring that the appropriate Board procedures are followed and reviewed and that relevant 

rules and regulations applicable to the Group are complied with.

The Company makes available to all directors its half-year and full year financial results, corporate development 

and audit reports with all other relevant information. The Management also consults with the Board members 

regularly whenever necessary and appropriate.

The directors are provided with the contact details of the Company’s senior management and the Company 

Secretary to facilitate direct, separate and independent access.
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B. REMUNERATION MATTERS

Procedures for Developing Remuneration Policies

Principle 7: There should be a formal and transparent procedure for developing policy on executive 

remuneration and for fixing the remuneration packages of individual directors. No director should be 

involved in deciding his own remuneration.

The RC assists the Board by ensuring that remuneration policies and practices are sound in that they are able to 

attract, retain and motivate without being excessive, and thereby maximise shareholders’ value. The RC comprises 

three (3) members, all of whom are Independent and Non-Executive Directors as set out below:

(a) Mr Chee Teck Kwong Patrick (Chairman)

(b) Mr Lien Kait Long (Member)

(c) Mr Kuik See Juan (Member)

The RC carries out duties that include:

(a) to structure a proportion of Executive Directors’ remuneration so as to link rewards to group or corporate 

and individual performance. The performance related elements of remuneration shall form a significant 

proportion of the total remuneration package of Executive Directors and shall be designed to align their 

interests with those of shareholders and to give these directors keen incentives to perform at the highest 

levels;

(b) to review and recommend to the Board the terms of renewal for those Executive Directors whose current 

employment contracts will expire or had expired;

(c) to consider the various disclosure requirements for directors’ remuneration, particularly those required by 

regulatory bodies such as the SGX, and ensure that there is adequate disclosure in the financial statements 

to ensure and enhance transparency between the company and relevant interested parties;

(d) to make recommendations to the Board on the company’s framework of executive remuneration, such 

as senior managers;

(e) to oversee the award of share options and the payment of fees to Non-Executive Directors (“NED”) and 

to ensure, as far as possible, that the quantum commensurates with the NED’s contribution to the Board 

and the company; and

(f) to determine and recommend for Board approval the terms of employment and remuneration packages 

for each Director.

All RC members attended the meeting during the financial year 2010. Each member of the RC will refrain from 

voting on any resolution in respect of the assessment of his remuneration. Directors do not decide on their own 

remuneration package.
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Level and Mix of Remuneration

Principle 8: The level of remuneration should be appropriate to attract, retain and motivate the 

directors needed to run the company successfully but companies should avoid paying more than is 

necessary for this purpose. A significant proportion of executive directors’ remuneration should be 

structured so as to link rewards to corporate and individual performance.

The Executive Directors have entered into service contracts with the Company, which are for a fixed appointment 

period. The RC determines the remuneration package of the Executive Directors based on the performance 

of the Group. Non-Executive Directors are paid Directors’ Fees based on contribution, effort, time spent and 

responsibilities of each individual director, and the Directors’ fees payable are subjected to the approval of the 

shareholders at the AGM.

Disclosure on Remuneration

Principle 9: Each company should provide clear disclosure of its remuneration policy, level and mix of 

remuneration, and the procedure for setting remuneration in the company’s annual report. It should 

provide disclosure in relation to its remuneration policies to enable investors to understand the link 

between remuneration paid to directors and key executives, and performance.

The following table reflects the breakdown of the remuneration of the directors for the financial year 2010:

Remuneration Band and 

Name of Director

Directors’

Fees*

%

Salary/

Allowance

%

Bonus/Profit

Share

%

Benefits-

in-kind

%

Total

%

S$500,000 and above

Mr Loh See Moon

Dr Allan Yap

–

–

55.65

71.59

36.93

28.41

7.42

–

100

100

S$250,000 to below S$500,000

Ms Cheong Poh Hua – 74.18 25.82 – 100

Below S$250,000

Mr Foo Der Rong

Dr John Chen Seow Phun

Mr Lien Kait Long

Mr Chee Teck Kwong Patrick

Mr Kuik See Juan

–

100

100

100

100

71.60

–

–

–

–

28.40

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

100

100

100

100

100

Note:

Directors’ Fees are subjected to approval of the shareholders at the forthcoming AGM.

During the financial year ended 31 December 2010, there were no employees of the Group who were immediate 

family members of any director or the CEO of the Company and whose remuneration exceeded S$150,000.
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C. ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Accountability

Principle 10: The Board should present a balanced and understandable assessment of the company’s 
performance, position and prospects.

In presenting the annual financial statements and announcements of the financial results to shareholders, it is 
the aim of the Board to provide shareholders with a balanced and understandable assessment of the Company’s 
and the Group’s performance, financial position and prospects.

Management provides the AC with the half-year and full year results of the Group. The AC reviews the results 
and recommends them to the Board for approval for the release of the results to the SGX-ST and the public via 
SGXNET.

Audit Committee

Principle 11: The Board should establish an Audit Committee (“AC”) with written terms of reference 
which clearly set out its authority and duties.

The AC comprises the following three (3) members, all of whom are Non-Executive Directors and the majority, 
including the Chairman of the AC, are independent:

(a) Mr Lien Kait Long (Chairman)
(b) Mr Chee Teck Kwong Patrick (Member)
(c) Mr Kuik See Juan (Member)
(d) Dr John Chen Seow Phun (Member)

The AC has adopted a set of Terms of Reference and meets at least twice a year to perform, inter alia, the 
following functions:

(a) gain an understanding of whether internal control recommendations made by internal and external 
auditors have been implemented by management;

(b) gain an understanding of the current areas of greatest financial risk and how management is managing 
these effectively;

(c) consider with the internal and external auditors any fraud, illegal acts, deficiencies internal control or 
other similar issues;

(d) review significant accounting and reporting issues, including recent professional and regulatory 
pronouncement, and understand their impact on the financial statements;

(e) review the audit plan and the scope of the examination of the internal and external auditors about 
significant risks and exposures and the plans to minimise such risks;

(f) review the effectiveness of the internal audit function;

(g) meet separately with the director of internal audit to discuss any matters that the committee or auditors 
believe should be discussed privately;

(h) review the performance of the external auditors;

(i) consider the independence of the external auditors, including reviewing the range of services provided 
in the context of all consulting services bought by the company;
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(j) meet separately with the external auditors to discuss any matters that the committee or auditors believe 
should be discussed privately; and

(k) review and approve interested personal transactions subject to the rules prescribed in the provisions of 
Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST and the Act.

The AC has explicit authority to investigate any matter within its terms of reference, has full access to 
Management and has full discretion to invite any director or executive officer to attend AC meetings. It has 
been given reasonable resources to enable it to discharge its functions properly and appropriately. The AC has 
unrestricted access to the internal and external auditors.

In July 2010, the Singapore Exchange Limited and Accounting and Corporate Regulatory Authority had launched 
the “Guidance to Audit Committee on Evaluation of Quality of work performed by External Auditors” which 
aims to facilitate the AC in evaluating the external auditors. Accordingly, the AC had evaluated the performance 
of the external auditors based on the key indicators of audit quality set out in the Guideline.

In addition, the AC undertook a review of the independence and objectivity of the external auditors through 
discussions with them, as well as reviewing the non-audit services provided by the external auditors. The AC is 
satisfied with the independence and objectivity of the external auditors, and is pleased to recommend to the 
Board for their re-appointment.

The AC has implemented a ‘whistle-blowing’ policy whereby employees of the Group may, in confidence, raise 
concerns about or report on possible improprieties in matters of financial reporting or other matters. The AC 
is vested with the power and authority to receive, investigate and enforce appropriate action when any such 
non-compliance matter is brought to its attention.

Internal Control

Principle 12: The Board should ensure that the Management maintains a sound system of internal 
controls to safeguard the shareholders’ investments and the company’s assets.

The AC evaluates the findings of the internal and external auditors on the Group’s internal controls annually. 
The Board believes that, the system of internal controls maintained by the management which was in place 
throughout the financial year and up to the date of this report provides reasonable, but not absolute, assurance 
against material financial misstatements or loss, and include the maintenance of proper accounting records, the 
reliability of financial information, compliance with appropriate legislation, regulation and best practices, and 
the identification and containment of business risk.

Internal Audit

Principle 13: The company should establish an internal audit function that is independent of the 
activities it audits.

During the financial year 2010, the Group has outsourced its internal audit function to Ernst & Young Advisory 
Pte. Ltd.

The role of the Internal Auditors (“IA”) is to assist the AC by ensuring that the Group maintains a sound system 
of internal controls by regular monitoring of key controls and procedures, as well as ensuring their effectiveness. 
The IA report primarily to the Chairman of the AC although they also report administratively to the Chairman/
CEO of the Group, and they have unrestricted access to all records, properties and personnel of the Group. The 
AC will review the adequacy of the function of the IA annually.

The AC has reviewed the IA’s findings and recommendations for improvement, and there was no material internal 
control weaknesses found in the processes under review for the financial year ended 31 December 2010.
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D. COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Board is mindful of the obligation to provide and disclose to shareholders all major developments and 

material information through SGXNET relating to its business and operations. The Group has followed closely 

the requirements in the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST, in disclosing information to shareholders on a timely 

basis, through:

(a) SGXNET announcements and news releases;

(b) Printed Annual Report sent to all shareholders;

(c) Notice of AGM and Extraordinary General Meetings (“EGM”), if any; and

(d) The Company’s website at http://www.tspg.sg at which shareholders can access information on the 

Group.

The Board welcomes the views of shareholders on matters regarding the Group’s business and accounts at the 

Company’s AGMs. The Chairpersons of the AC, NC and RC are normally available with the external auditors at 

the AGMs to address the queries raised by shareholders.

Currently, the Articles of Association of the Company allows a shareholder to vote at all AGMs/EGMs whether 

personally or by proxy or by attorney or in the case of a corporation, by a company’s representative.

E. INTERESTED PERSON TRANSACTIONS

Save as disclosed in the financial statements, there are no interested person transactions with aggregate value 

more than S$100,000 for the financial year ended 31 December 2010.

F. DEALING IN SECURITIES

In relation to dealings in the Company’s securities, the Group has adopted the policies set out in Rule 1207(18) 

of the Listing Manual issued by the SGX-ST. Directors and employees of the Company are expected to observe 

insider trading laws at all times. They are notified at the appropriate time, that dealing in the Company’s shares 

during the period commencing one month before the announcement of the Group’s half-year and full year 

financial results and ending on the date of the announcement of the results, are prohibited.

G. MATERIAL CONTRACTS

Save for the service contracts of the Executive Directors, there were no material contracts entered into by the 

Group or any of its subsidiaries involving the interest of the CEO, any director, or controlling shareholders of 

the Group during the period under review.

H. RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board and Management regularly review the Group’s business and operational activities to identify areas of 

significant business risks as well as take the appropriate measures to control and mitigate these risks. They are 

responsible for monitoring the Group’s risk management, highlighting all significant matters and managing risks 

in its pursuit of achieving the Group’s objectives.
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We are pleased to submit this annual report to the members of the Company together with the audited financial 

statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2010.

Directors

The directors in office at the date of this report are as follows:

Allan Yap

John Chen Seow Phun

Loh See Moon

Foo Der Rong

Cheong Poh Hua

Kuik See Juan

Chee Teck Kwong Patrick

Lien Kait Long

Directors’ interests

According to the register kept by the Company for the purposes of Section 164 of the Singapore Companies Act, 

Chapter 50 (the “Act”), particulars of interests of directors who held office at the end of the financial year (including 

those held by their spouses and infant children) in shares, debentures, warrants or share options in the Company and 

in related corporations are as follows:

Direct Interest Deemed Interest

Name of director

At 

beginning of 

financial year

At end of 

financial year

At 

beginning of 

financial year

At end of 

financial year

Ordinary shares of the Company

Loh See Moon 23,580,000 23,580,000 – –

Cheong Poh Hua 516,000 516,000 260,000 260,000

Ordinary shares of the ultimate 

 holding company

(PSC Corporation Ltd.)

Foo Der Rong 876,750 876,750 – –

Lien Kait Long 5,530 5,530 – –

Chee Teck Kwong Patrick – 800,000 – –

John Chen Seow Phun – 1,000,000 – –

Loh See Moon – 400,000
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Directors’ interests (cont’d)

Direct Interest Deemed Interest

Name of director

At 

beginning of 

financial year

At end of 

financial year

At 

beginning of 

financial year

At end of 

financial year

Share options of the ultimate 

 holding Company

(PSC Corporation Ltd.)

Allan Yap 1,000,000 11,000,000 – –

Foo Der Rong 800,000 5,800,000 – –

Loh See Moon 400,000 – – –

Lien Kait Long – 500,000 – –

Except as disclosed in this report, no director who held office at the end of the financial year had interests in shares, 

debentures, warrants or share options of the Company, or of related corporations, either at the beginning of the 

financial year or at the end of the financial year.

There were no changes in any of the above mentioned interests in the Company between the end of the financial year 

and 21 January 2011.

Neither at the end of, nor at any time during the financial year, was the Company a party to any arrangement whose 

objects are, or one of whose objects is, to enable the directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the 

acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company or any other body corporate.

Except for salaries, bonuses and fees and those benefits that are disclosed in this report and in note 31 to the financial 

statements, since the end of the last financial year, no director has received or become entitled to receive a benefit by 

reason of a contract made by the Company or a related corporation with the director, or with a firm of which he is a 

member or with a company in which he has a substantial financial interest.

Share options

During the financial year, there were:

(i) no options granted by the Company or its subsidiaries to any person to take up unissued shares in the Company 

or its subsidiaries; and

(ii) no shares issued by virtue of any exercise of option to take up unissued shares of the Company or its 

subsidiaries.

As at the end of the financial year, there were no unissued shares of the Company or its subsidiaries under options 

granted by the Company or its subsidiaries.
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Audit Committee

The members of the Audit Committee during the year and at the date of this report are:

• Lien Kait Long (Chairman), Non-Executive Director

• Dr John Chen Seow Phun, Non-Executive Director

• Kuik See Juan, Non-Executive Director

• Chee Teck Kwong Patrick, Non-Executive Director

The Audit Committee performs the functions specified in Section 201B of the Act, the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST 

and the Code of Corporate Governance.

The Audit Committee had held 2 meetings since the last directors’ report. In performing its functions, the Audit 

Committee met with the Company’s external and internal auditors to discuss the scope of their work, the results of 

their examination and evaluation of the Company’s internal accounting control system.

The Audit Committee also reviewed the following:

• Assistance provided by the Company’s officers to the internal and external auditors;

• Half yearly financial information and annual financial statements of the Group and the Company prior to their 

submission to the directors of the Company for adoption;

• interested person transactions (as defined in Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST);

• legal and regulatory matters that may have a material impact on the financial statements, related compliance 

policies and programmes and any reports received from regulations.

The Audit Committee has full access to management and is given the resources required for it to discharge its functions. 

It has full authority and the discretion to invite any director or executive officer to attend its meetings. The Audit 

Committee also recommends the appointment of the external auditors and reviews the level of audit and non-audit 

fees.

The Audit Committee reviewed the independence of the auditors as required under Section 206(1A) of the Companies 

Act and determined that the auditors were independent in carrying out their audit of the financial statements.

The Audit Committee is satisfied with the independence and objectivity of the external auditors and has recommended 

to the Board of Directors that the auditors, KPMG LLP, be nominated for re-appointment as auditors at the forthcoming 

Annual General Meeting of the Company.
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Auditors

KPMG LLP was appointed as auditors of the Company on 22 April 2010 by the Board of Directors (the Board) pursuant 

to a Board resolution passed in accordance with the Company’s Article of Association. The auditors, KPMG LLP, have 

indicated their willingness to accept re-appointment.

On behalf of the Board of Directors

Loh See Moon Cheong Poh Hua

Director Director

22 March 2011
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In our opinion:

(a) the financial statements set out on pages 28 to 78 are drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of the state 

of affairs of the Group and of the Company as at 31 December 2010 and the results, changes in equity and 

cash flows of the Group for the year ended on that date in accordance with the provisions of the Singapore 

Companies Act, Chapter 50 and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards; and

(b) at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its 

debts as and when they fall due.

The Board of Directors has, on the date of this statement, authorised these financial statements for issue.

On behalf of the Board of Directors

Loh See Moon Cheong Poh Hua

Director Director

22 March 2011
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Members of the Company

Tat Seng Packaging Group Ltd and its Subsidiaries

Report on the financial statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Tat Seng Packaging Group Ltd (the Company) and its 

subsidiaries (the Group), which comprise the balance sheets of the Group and the Company as at 31 December 2010, 

the income statement, statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash 

flows of the Group for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory 

information, as set out on pages 28 to 78. The financial statements for the period from 1 January 2009 to 31 December 

2009 were audited by another auditor whose report dated 5 March 2010 expressed an unqualified opinion on those 

statements.

Management’s responsibility for the financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with 

the provisions of the Singapore Companies Act, Chapter 50 (the Act) and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards, 

and for devising and maintaining a system of internal accounting controls sufficient to provide a reasonable assurance 

that assets are safeguarded against loss from unauthorised use or disposition; and transactions are properly authorised 

and that they are recorded as necessary to permit the preparation of true and fair profit and loss accounts and balance 

sheets and to maintain accountability of assets.

Auditors’ responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in 

accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements 

and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from 

material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 

statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material 

misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 

considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in 

order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 

opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of 

accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating 

the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 

opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements of the Group and the balance sheet of the Company are properly 

drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Act and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards to give a true and 

fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and the Company as at 31 December 2010 and the results, changes in 

equity and cash flows of the Group for the year ended on that date.
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Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Company and by the subsidiary 

incorporated in Singapore of which we are the auditors have been properly kept in accordance with the provisions of 

the Act.

KPMG LLP

Public Accountants and

Certified Public Accountants

Singapore

22 March 2011
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As at 31 December 2010

Note Group Company

2010 2009 2010 2009

$ $ $ $

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 4 35,021,699 31,430,422 1,416,819 1,676,837

Intangible assets 5 1,110,725 1,231,497 36,000 39,000

Investment in subsidiaries 6 – – 23,291,432 21,989,181

Loans to subsidiaries 7 – – 3,075,000 2,764,411

Investment securities 8 640,000 576,000 640,000 576,000

Deferred tax assets 9 456,359 608,811 – –

37,228,783 33,846,730 28,459,251 27,045,429

Current assets

Inventories 10 20,276,918 14,928,467 2,483,761 2,429,546

Trade and bills receivables 11 50,557,802 39,988,007 3,111,145 3,682,824

Prepaid operating expenses 283,930 292,719 26,305 21,367

Other receivables and deposits 12 11,290,894 2,156,643 119,250 74,189

Loans to subsidiaries 7 – – 2,109,411 1,920,000

Amounts due from subsidiaries 13 – – 1,730,413 1,444,563

Cash and cash equivalents 14 20,737,276 15,621,683 7,153,214 3,948,253

103,146,820 72,987,519 16,733,499 13,520,742

Total assets 140,375,603 106,834,249 45,192,750 40,566,171

Equity attributable to owners of 

 the Company

Share capital 15 31,440,000 31,440,000 31,440,000 31,440,000

Retained earnings 19,596,465 15,463,422 3,420,165 4,781,485

Other reserves 16 5,623,381 7,071,448 192,000 128,000

56,659,846 53,974,870 35,052,165 36,349,485

Non-controlling interests 2,196,156 3,148,184 – –

Total equity 58,856,002 57,123,054 35,052,165 36,349,485

Non-current liabilities

Deferred capital grant 17 97,525 114,192 – –

Deferred tax liabilities 9 803,965 810,020 212,758 205,129

Loans and borrowings 18 6,000,000 96,704 6,000,000 –

6,901,490 1,020,916 6,212,758 205,129

Current liabilities

Deferred capital grant 17 10,935 14,819 – –

Income tax payable 383,385 1,004,566 2,909 160,854

Loans and borrowings 18 10,002,272 11,271,582 – –

Bills payable to banks 19 26,658,707 16,423,295 199,522 154,760

Trade and other payables 20 31,677,595 15,032,489 910,434 1,100,205

Other liabilities 21 5,791,842 4,943,528 2,721,587 2,595,738

Amounts due to holding company 13 93,375 – 93,375 –

74,618,111 48,690,279 3,927,827 4,011,557

Total liabilities 81,519,601 49,711,195 10,140,585 4,216,686

Total equity and liabilities 140,375,603 106,834,249 45,192,750 40,566,171

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Income Statement

Year ended 31 December 2010

Note 2010 2009

$ $

Revenue 153,284,384 113,360,958

Cost of sales (126,530,728) (88,681,535)

Gross profit 26,753,656 24,679,423

Other income 22 376,691 540,983

Distribution and selling expenses (9,124,666) (7,605,695)

General and administrative expenses (8,004,717) (7,076,257)

Other expenses 23 (745,363) (381,200)

Results from operating activities 9,255,601 10,157,254

Finance costs 24 (1,004,089) (666,755)

Profit before income tax 25 8,251,512 9,490,499

Income tax expense 26 (1,743,716) (1,602,479)

Profit for the year 6,507,796 7,888,020

Profit attributable to

Owners of the Company 6,225,431 7,447,316

Non-controlling interests 282,365 440,704

Profit for the year 6,507,796 7,888,020

Earnings per share attributable to owners of the Company 

 (cents per share)

Basic and diluted 27 3.96 4.74

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

Year ended 31 December 2010

2010 2009

$ $

Profit of the year 6,507,796 7,888,020

Other comprehensive income

Foreign currency translation differences (1,964,598) (839,451)

Net change in fair value of available-for-sale financial assets 64,000 127,946

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax (1,900,598) (711,505)

Total comprehensive income for the year 4,607,198 7,176,515

Total comprehensive income attributable to:

Owners of the Company 4,436,805 6,776,066

Non-controlling interests 170,393 400,449

Total comprehensive income for the year 4,607,198 7,176,515

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Year ended 31 December 2010

Note 2010 2009

$ $

Restated*

Cash flows from operating activities

Profit before income tax 8,251,512 9,490,499

Adjustments for:

 Amortisation of deferred capital grant 17 (14,488) (20,142)

 Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 4 3,489,040 3,532,691

 Dividend income from investment securities 22 (38,400) (265,600)

 Impairment loss on property, plant and equipment 4 – 166,451

 Finance cost 24 868,401 601,253

 Interest income 22 (115,251) (72,262)

 Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment 22 (21,180) (6,179)

 Gain on disposal of quoted equities 22 – (61)

 Net effect of exchange differences 334,303 (333,625)

 Property, plant and equipment written off 23 22,089 96,306

 Allowance/(reversal of allowance) for inventory obsolescence 10 75,831 (18,624)

 Amortisation of club membership 5 3,000 3,000

 Bad debts written off 100 –

 Allowance for doubtful debts from trade receivables 33 248,839 21,402

13,103,796 13,195,109

 Change in inventories (6,082,067) (2,433,280)

 Change in trade and other receivables and prepaid operating 

  expenses (22,303,075) (17,614,715)

 Change in trade and other payables and other liabilities 28,778,793 14,336,049

Cash generated from operating activities 13,497,447 7,483,163

Interest paid (775,031) (601,253)

Income tax paid (2,229,739) (1,385,125)

Net cash from operating activities 10,492,677 5,496,785

Cash flows from investing activities

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 123,116 27,315

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment (7,416,378) (1,773,998)

Acquisition of a subsidiary, net of cash acquired – (998,230)

Proceeds from sale of quoted equity securities – 270

Interest received 115,251 72,262

Dividend received 38,400 265,600

Net cash used in investing activities (7,139,611) (2,406,781)

* See note 36

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Year ended 31 December 2010

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

Note 2010 2009

$ $

Restated*

Cash flows from financing activities

Dividends paid (1,572,000) (1,572,000)

Investment in a subsidiary by non-controlling interests – 1,385,077

Acquisition of non-controlling interests 29 (b) (1,302,250) –

Proceeds from loans and borrowings 12,210,168 14,370,014

Repayment of loans and borrowings (13,028,951) (14,196,045)

Proceeds from loans with holding company 6,000,000 –

Increase in pledged deposits (1,279,935) (357,852)

Net cash from/(used in) financing activities 1,027,032 (370,806)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 4,380,098 2,719,198

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 13,249,653 10,658,106

Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash held (388,973) (127,651)

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 14 17,240,778 13,249,653

* See note 36
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Notes to the Financial Statements

These notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 22 March 2011.

1 Domicile and activities

Tat Seng Packaging Group Ltd. (the Company) is a company incorporated in the Republic of Singapore. The 

address of the Company’s registered office is 28 Senoko Drive Singapore 758214.

The financial statements of the Company as at and for the year ended 31 December 2010 comprise the Company 

and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group” and individually as “Group entities”).

The Group is primarily involved in the manufacture and sales of corrugated paper products and other packaging 

products. The principal activities of the subsidiaries are set out in note 6 to the financial statements.

The immediate and ultimate holding company is PSC Corporation Ltd, incorporated in the Republic of 

Singapore.

2 Basis of preparation

(a) Statement of compliance

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Singapore Financial Reporting 

Standards (FRS).

(b) Basis of measurement

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for certain financial assets 

and financial liabilities which are measured at fair value.

(c) Functional and presentation currency

The financial statements are presented in Singapore dollars which is the Company’s functional currency.

(d) Use of estimates and judgements

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with FRS requires management to make judgements, 

estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts 

of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates 

are recognised in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2 Basis of preparation (cont’d)

(d) Use of estimates and judgements (cont’d)

Information about significant areas of estimation uncertainty and critical judgements in applying 

accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial 

statements are included in the following notes:

• Note 4 –  measurement of recoverable amounts relating to impairment of property, plant 

and equipment

• Note 5 – measurement of recoverable amounts relating to goodwill impairment

(e) Changes in accounting policies

From 1 January 2010, the Group has applied FRS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements 

(2009) in accounting for acquisitions of non-controlling interests. The change in accounting policy has 

been applied prospectively and has no impact on earnings per share.

Under the new accounting policy, acquisitions of non-controlling interest are accounted for as transactions 

with owners in their capacity as owners and therefore no goodwill is recognised as a result of such 

transactions. The adjustments to non-controlling interests are based on a proportionate amount of net 

assets of the subsidiary.

Previously, goodwill was recognised on the acquisition of non-controlling interests in a subsidiary, which 

represented the excess of the cost of the additional investment over the carrying amount of the interest 

in the net assets acquired at the date of the transaction.

3 Significant accounting policies

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these financial 

statements, and have been applied consistently by Group entities, except as explained in note 2(e), which 

addresses changes in accounting policies.

3.1 Basis of consolidation

Business combinations

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method as at the acquisition date, which 

is the date on which control is transferred to the Group. Control is the power to govern the financial and 

operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. In assessing control, the Group 

takes into consideration potential voting rights that are currently exercisable.
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3 Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

3.1 Basis of consolidation (cont’d)

Business combinations (cont’d)

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination 

are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. Adjustments to those fair values relating 

to previously held interests are treated as revaluation and recognised in equity. Any excess of the cost of 

business combination over the Group’s share in the net fair value of the acquired subsidiary’s identifiable 

assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities is recorded as goodwill on the balance sheet. The accounting 

policy for goodwill is set out in note 3.4. Any excess of the Group’s share in the net fair value of the 

acquired subsidiary’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over the cost of business 

combination is recognised as income in profit or loss on the date of acquisition.

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in 

the consolidated financial statements from the date that control commences until the date that control 

ceases.

The accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed when necessary to align them with the policies 

adopted by the Group. Losses applicable to the non-controlling interests in a subsidiary are allocated to the 

non-controlling interests even if doing so causes the non-controlling interests to have a deficit balance.

Transactions eliminated on consolidation

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income and expenses arising from intra-group 

transactions, are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised gains arising 

from transactions with associates and joint ventures are eliminated against the investment to the extent 

of the Group’s interest in the investee.

Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent that there is 

no evidence of impairment.

Accounting for subsidiaries, associates and jointly controlled entities

Investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures are stated in the Company’s balance sheet at 

cost less accumulated impairment losses.
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3.2 Foreign currency

Foreign currency transactions

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the respective functional currencies of Group entities 

at exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 

currencies at the end of the reporting period are retranslated to the functional currency at the exchange 

rate at that date. The foreign currency gain or loss on monetary items is the difference between amortised 

cost in the functional currency at the beginning of the year, adjusted for effective interest and payments 

during the year, and the amortised cost in foreign currency translated at the exchange rate at the end 

of the year.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are measured at fair value are 

retranslated to the functional currency at the exchange rate at the date that the fair value was determined. 

Non-monetary items in a foreign currency that are measured in terms of historical cost are translated using 

the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Foreign currency differences arising on retranslation are 

recognised in profit or loss, except for differences arising on the retranslation of available-for-sale equity 

instruments, which are recognised in other comprehensive income.

Foreign operations

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on 

acquisition, are translated to Singapore dollars at exchange rates at the reporting date. The income and 

expenses of foreign operations, excluding foreign operations in hyperinflationary economies, are translated 

to Singapore dollars at exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.

Foreign currency differences are recognised in other comprehensive income, and presented in the foreign 

currency translation reserve (translation reserve) in equity. However, if the operation is a non-wholly-

owned subsidiary, then the relevant proportionate share of the translation difference is allocated to the 

non-controlling interests. When a foreign operation is disposed of such that control, significant influence 

or joint control is lost, the cumulative amount in the translation reserve related to that foreign operation 

is reclassified to profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on disposal. When the Group disposes of only 

part of its interest in a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation while retaining control, the relevant 

proportion of the cumulative amount is reattributed to non-controlling interests. When the Group 

disposes of only part of its investment in an associate or joint venture that includes a foreign operation 

while retaining significant influence or joint control, the relevant proportion of the cumulative amount 

is reclassified to profit or loss.

When the settlement of a monetary item receivable from or payable to a foreign operation is neither 

planned nor likely in the foreseeable future, foreign exchange gains and losses arising from such a 

monetary item are considered to form part of a net investment in a foreign operation and are recognised 

in other comprehensive income, and presented in the translation reserve in equity.
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3.3 Property, plant and equipment

Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and 

accumulated impairment losses.

Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of self-

constructed assets includes the cost of materials and direct labour, any other costs directly attributable 

to bringing the assets to a working condition for their intended use, the costs of dismantling and 

removing the items and restoring the site on which they are located, and capitalised borrowing costs. 

Purchased software that is integral to the functionality of the related equipment is capitalised as part of 

that equipment.

When parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted 

for as separate items (major components) of property, plant and equipment.

The gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined by comparing the 

proceeds from disposal with the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment, and is recognised net 

within other income/other expenses in profit or loss. When revalued assets are sold, any related amount 

included in the revaluation reserve is transferred to retained earnings.

The cost of replacing a component of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in the 

carrying amount of the item if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the 

component will flow to the Group, and its cost can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of 

the replaced component is derecognised. The costs of the day-to-day servicing of property, plant and 

equipment are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

Depreciation is based on the cost of an asset less its residual value. Significant components of individual 

assets are assessed and if a component has a useful life that is different from the remainder of that asset, 

that component is depreciated separately.

Depreciation is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of each 

component of an item of property, plant and equipment. Leased assets are depreciated over the shorter 

of the lease term and their useful lives unless it is reasonably certain that the Group will obtain ownership 

by the end of the lease term. Construction and installation in progress are not depreciated.

The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative years are as follows:

Leasehold land and buildings 20 – 50 years

Plant and machinery 5 – 10 years

Furniture and fittings 5 – 131/3 years

Motor vehicles 5 – 8 years

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at the end of each reporting period 

and adjusted if appropriate.
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3.4 Intangible assets

Goodwill

Goodwill is initially measured at cost. Following initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less 

accumulated impairment losses.

Other intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured initially at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired 

in a business combination is their fair value as at the date of acquisition. Following initial acquisition, 

intangible assets are measured at cost less any accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment 

losses.

Intangible assets with finite useful lives are amortised over the estimated useful lives and assessed for 

impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation 

period and the amortisation method are reviewed at least at each financial year-end. Changes in the 

expected useful life or the expected pattern of consumption of future economic benefits embodied in the 

asset is accounted for by changing the amortisation period or method, as appropriate, and are treated 

as changes in accounting estimates. The amortisation expense on intangible assets with finite lives is 

recognised in profit or loss in the expense category consistent with the function of the intangible asset.

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset are measured as the difference between 

the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognised in profit or loss when 

the asset is derecognised.

Club membership

Club membership was acquired separately and is amortised on a straight line basis over its finite useful 

life of 29 years.

3.5 Inventories

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The cost of inventories includes 

expenditure incurred in acquiring the inventories, production or conversion costs and other costs incurred 

in bringing them to their existing location and condition. In the case of manufactured inventories and 

work in progress, cost includes an appropriate share of production overheads based on normal operating 

capacity. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the 

estimated costs of completion and selling expenses.
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3.6 Financial instruments

A financial instrument is recognised if the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the 

instrument. Financial assets are derecognised if the Group’s contractual rights to the cash flows from 

the financial assets expire or if the Group transfers the financial asset to another party without retaining 

control or transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset. Financial liabilities are derecognised 

if the Group’s obligations specified in the contract expire or are discharged or cancelled. Purchases and 

sales of financial assets are accounted for at trade date, that is, the date that the Group commits itself 

to purchase or sell the asset.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an 

active market. Such assets are recognised initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction 

costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost using the 

effective interest method, less any impairment losses.

Loans and receivables comprise cash and cash equivalents, trade and bills receivables, other receivables 

and deposits and balances with subsidiaries.

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and bank deposits.

Available-for-sale financial assets

The Group’s investment securities are classified as available-for-sale financial assets. Subsequent to initial 

recognition, they are measured at fair value and changes therein, other than for impairment losses, 

and foreign exchange gains and losses on available-for-sale monetary items are recognised directly in 

other comprehensive income. When an investment is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss in other 

comprehensive income and presented within equity in the fair value reserve is transferred to profit or 

loss.

Non-derivative financial liabilities

Financial liabilities (including liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss) are recognised initially 

on the trade date at which the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

The Group has the following non-derivative financial liabilities: trade and other payables, bills payable to 

banks, other liabilities, amounts due to holding company and loans and borrowings.

Financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. 

Subsequent to initial recognition, these financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the 

effective interest method.

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the balance sheet when, and 

only when, the Group has a legal right to offset the amounts and intends either to settle on a net basis 

or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
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3.7 Impairment

Impairment of financial assets

A financial asset is assessed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any objective evidence 

that it is impaired. A financial asset is considered to be impaired if objective evidence indicates that one 

or more events have had a negative effect on the estimated future cash flows of that asset.

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortised cost is calculated as the difference 

between its carrying amount, and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at 

the original effective interest rate. An impairment loss in respect of an available-for-sale financial asset is 

calculated by reference to its current fair value.

Significant financial assets are tested for impairment on an individual basis. The remaining financial assets 

are assessed collectively in groups that share similar credit risk characteristics.

All impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. Any cumulative loss in respect of an available-for-

sale financial asset is recognised by transferring the cumulative loss that has been recognised in other 

comprehensive income, to profit or loss.

Impairment losses in respect of financial assets measured at amortised cost and available-for-sale debt 

security are reversed if the subsequent increase in fair value can be related objectively to an event occurring 

after the impairment loss was recognised.

Impairment losses once recognised in profit or loss in respect of available-for-sale equity securities are not 

reversed through profit or loss. Any subsequent increase in fair value of such assets is recognised directly 

in other comprehensive income.

Impairment – non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial assets, other than inventories and deferred tax assets, 

are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any 

such indication exists, the assets’ recoverable amounts are estimated. For goodwill, recoverable amount 

is estimated annually, and as and when indicators of impairment are identified.

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value-in-use and its fair 

value less costs to sell. In assessing value-in-use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their 

present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of 

money and the risks specific to the asset. For the purpose of impairment testing, assets that cannot be 

tested individually are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows from 

continuing use that are largely independent from other assets or groups of assets (the “cash-generating 

unit, or CGU”). Subject to an operating segment ceiling test, for the purposes of goodwill impairment 

testing, CGUs to which goodwill has been allocated are aggregated so that the level at which impairment 

is tested reflects the lowest level at which goodwill is monitored for internal reporting purposes. Goodwill 

acquired in a business combination is allocated to groups of CGUs that are expected to benefit from the 

synergies of the combination.
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3.7 Impairment (cont’d)

Impairment – non-financial assets (cont’d)

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its CGU exceeds its estimated 

recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. Impairment losses recognised in 

respect of CGUs are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the units, 

and then to reduce the carrying amount of the other assets in the unit (group of units) on a pro-rata 

basis.

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. In respect of other assets, impairment losses 

recognised in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the loss has 

decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates 

used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the 

asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of 

depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.

3.8 Provisions

A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the Group has a present legal or constructive 

obligation that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will 

be required to settle the obligation. Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash 

flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks 

specific to the liability. The unwinding of the discount is recognised as finance cost.

3.9 Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is reasonable assurance that the grant 

will be received and all attaching conditions will be complied with. Where the grant relates to an asset, 

the fair value is recognised as deferred capital grant on the balance sheet and is amortised to profit or 

loss over the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual instalments.

Government grant – Jobs Credit Scheme

Cash grant received from the government in relation to the Jobs Credit Scheme are recognised as an 

offset against staff costs.

3.10 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary shares are recognised as a deduction from 

equity, net of any tax effects.
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3.11 Leases

When entities within the Group are lessees of a finance lease

Leased assets in which the Group assumes substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified 

as finance leases. Upon initial recognition, property, plant and equipment acquired through finance 

leases are capitalised at the lower of its fair value and the present value of the minimum lease payments. 

Subsequent to initial recognition, the asset is accounted for in accordance with the accounting policy 

applicable to that asset. Leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and their useful 

lives. Lease payments are apportioned between finance expense and reduction of the lease liability. The 

finance expense is allocated to each period during the lease term so as to produce a constant periodic 

rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Contingent lease payments are accounted for by 

revising the minimum lease payments over the remaining term of the lease when the lease adjustment 

is confirmed.

When entities within the Group are lessees of an operating lease

Where the Group has the use of assets under operating leases, payments made under the leases are 

recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Lease incentives received 

are recognised in profit or loss as an integral part of the total lease payments made. Contingent rentals 

are charged to profit or loss in the accounting period in which they are incurred.

3.12 Employee benefits

Defined contribution plans

A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which an entity pays fixed 

contributions into a separate entity and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further amounts. 

Obligations for contributions to defined contribution pension plans are recognised as an employee benefit 

expense in profit or loss in the periods during which services are rendered by employees.

Retirement benefits

In accordance with the regulations of the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) Government, the 

subsidiaries are required to contribute employee retirement benefits to the relevant authority. The 

contributions are calculated based on directives issued by the relevant authority and are charged to profit 

or loss when incurred.

Employee leaves entitlement

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised as a liability when they accrue to the employees. 

The estimated liability for leave is recognised for services rendered by employees up to the balance sheet 

date.



Annual Report 2010  •  Tat Seng Packaging Group Ltd  45        

Notes to the Financial Statements

3 Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

3.12 Employee benefits (cont’d)

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as 

the related service is provided. A liability is recognised for the amount expected to be paid under short-

term cash bonus or profit-sharing plans if the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay 

this amount as a result of past service provided by the employee, and the obligation can be estimated 

reliably.

3.13 Revenue

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group 

and the revenue can be reliably measured. Revenue is measured at the fair value of consideration received 

or receivable.

Sale of goods

Revenue from sale of goods is recognised upon the transfer of significant risk and rewards of ownership 

of the goods to the customer. Revenue is not recognised to the extent where there are significant 

uncertainties regarding recovery of the consideration due, associated costs or the possible return of 

goods.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method.

Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised when the Group’s rights to receive payment is established.

3.14 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are capitalised as part of the cost of a qualifying asset if they are directly attributable to 

the acquisition, construction or production of that asset. Capitalisation of borrowing costs commences 

when the activities to prepare the asset for its intended use or sale are in progress and the expenditures 

and borrowing costs are incurred. Borrowing costs are capitalised until the assets are substantially 

completed for their intended use or sale.
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3.15 Income tax expense

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax expense is recognised in profit or 
loss except to the extent that it relates to a business combination, or items recognised directly in equity 
or in other comprehensive income.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or 
substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous 
years.

Deferred tax is recognised using the balance sheet method, providing for temporary differences between 
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for 
taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not recognised for the following temporary differences: the initial 
recognition of goodwill, the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a business 
combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss, and differences relating to 
investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures to the extent that they will not reverse in the foreseeable 
future. Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to the temporary 
differences when they reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by 
the reporting date.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax 
liabilities and assets, and they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable 
entity, or on different tax entities, but they intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis 
or their tax assets and liabilities will be realised simultaneously.

A deferred tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be 
available against which temporary differences can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each 
reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit 
will be realised.

3.16 Segment reporting

For management purposes, the Group is organised into operating segments based on their geographical 
locations which are independently managed by the respective segment managers responsible for the 
performance of the respective segments under their charge. The segment managers report directly to the 
management of the Company who regularly review the segment results in order to allocate resources to 
the segments and to assess the segment performance. Additional disclosures on each of these segments 
are shown in note 35, including the factors used to identify the reportable segments and the measurement 
basis of segment information.

3.17 Contingencies

A contingent liability or asset is a possible obligation or asset that arises from past events and whose 
existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of uncertain future event(s) not 
wholly within the control of the Group. Contingent liabilities and assets are not recognised on the balance 
sheet of the Group.

3.18 New accounting standards and interpretations not yet adopted

A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are effective for annual 
periods beginning after 1 January 2010, and have not been applied in preparing these consolidated 
financial statements. None of these is expected to have a significant effect on the consolidated financial 
statements of the Group.
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Leasehold 

land and 

buildings

Plant 

and 

machinery

Furniture 

and 

fittings

Motor 

vehicles

Construction 

in progress

Installation 

in progress Total

$ $ $ $ $ $ $

Group

Cost

At 1 January 2009 18,035,269 45,321,538 1,974,950 639,913 – 1,141,319 67,112,989

Additions 145,153 480,403 137,435 125,074 802,168 205,079 1,895,312

Acquisition through 

 business combinations – 268,849 57,149 254,491 – – 580,489

Disposals/write-offs (3,448) (921,968) (8,650) (48,723) – (3,665) (986,454)

Reclassification – 200,536 4,543 – – (205,079) –

Effect of movements 

 in exchange rates (421,448) (538,130) (12,889) (12,055) (25,700) (31,808) (1,042,030)

At 31 December 2009 17,755,526 44,811,228 2,152,538 958,700 776,468 1,105,846 67,560,306

At 1 January 2010 17,755,526 44,811,228 2,152,538 958,700 776,468 1,105,846 67,560,306

Additions 1,355,621 761,934 132,029 193,840 3,394,675 2,900,456 8,738,555

Disposals/write-offs – (583,693) (56,622) (54,566) – – (694,881)

Reclassification 76,094 1,983,569 – – (782,839) (1,276,824) –

Effect of movements 

 in exchange rates (931,825) (1,225,856) (27,997) (35,815) (113,294) (106,912) (2,441,699)

At 31 December 2010 18,255,416 45,747,182 2,199,948 1,062,159 3,275,010 2,622,566 73,162,281

Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses

At 1 January 2009 3,133,584 28,205,013 1,424,393 140,013 – 811,457 33,714,460

Depreciation charge 

 for the year 817,460 2,473,870 107,476 133,885 – – 3,532,691

Impairment loss – – – – – 166,451 166,451

Disposals/write-offs (621) (829,151) (6,341) (29,234) – (3,665) (869,012)

Effect of movements 

 in exchange rates (98,607) (274,257) (8,191) (4,136) – (29,515) (414,706)

At 31 December 2009 3,851,816 29,575,475 1,517,337 240,528 – 944,728 36,129,884

At 1 January 2010 3,851,816 29,575,475 1,517,337 240,528 – 944,728 36,129,884

Depreciation charge 

 for the year 771,921 2,413,946 121,996 181,177 – – 3,489,040

Disposals/write-offs – (481,206) (49,967) (39,683) – – (570,856)

Reclassification – 918,237 – – – (918,237) –

Effect of movements 

 in exchange rates (215,274) (638,690) (16,851) (10,180) – (26,491) (907,486)

At 31 December 2010 4,408,463 31,787,762 1,572,515 371,842 – – 38,140,582

Carrying amounts

At 1 January 2009 14,901,685 17,116,525 550,557 499,900 – 329,862 33,398,529

At 31 December 2009 13,903,710 15,235,753 635,201 718,172 776,468 161,118 31,430,422

At 31 December 2010 13,846,953 13,959,420 627,433 690,317 3,275,010 2,622,566 35,021,699
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4 Property, plant and equipment (cont’d)

Plant and 

machinery

Furniture and 

fittings

Motor 

vehicles Total

$ $ $ $

Company

Cost

At 1 January 2009 18,962,638 1,442,461 320,988 20,726,087

Additions 2,080 36,840 – 38,920

Disposals/write-offs (427) (540) – (967)

At 31 December 2009 18,964,291 1,478,761 320,988 20,764,040

At 1 January 2010 18,964,291 1,478,761 320,988 20,764,040

Additions 154,616 33,043 – 187,659

Disposals/write-offs (218,570) (1,045) – (219,615)

At 31 December 2010 18,900,337 1,510,759 320,988 20,732,084

Accumulated depreciation and 

 impairment losses

At 1 January 2009 17,429,052 1,135,999 16,049 18,581,100

Depreciation charge for the year 399,335 43,094 64,198 506,627

Disposals/write-offs (232) (292) – (524)

At 31 December 2009 17,828,155 1,178,801 80,247 19,087,203

At 1 January 2010 17,828,155 1,178,801 80,247 19,087,203

Depreciation charge for the year 319,739 44,545 64,198 428,482

Disposals/write-offs (199,941) (479) – (200,420)

At 31 December 2010 17,947,953 1,222,867 144,445 19,315,265

Carrying amounts

At 31 January 2009 1,533,586 306,462 304,939 2,144,987

At 31 December 2009 1,136,136 299,960 240,741 1,676,837

At 31 December 2010 952,384 287,892 176,543 1,416,819

The carrying amount of plant and machinery held under finance leases at the balance sheet date were $555,345 

(2009: $672,502). Leased assets are pledged as security for the related finance leases liabilities (Note 18).

The following property, plant and equipment are pledged to banks to secure banking facilities granted to 

subsidiaries (Note 18, 19).

Group

2010 2009

$ $

Leasehold land and buildings 10,819,765 12,060,722

Plant and machinery 6,680,610 8,565,715

17,500,375 20,626,437
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4 Property, plant and equipment (cont’d)

Impairment of assets

In the previous financial year, a subsidiary of the Group carried out a review of the recoverable amount of its 

installation-in-progress as it has not been put into production since they were assembled. An impairment loss of 

$166,451, representing the write down of these equipments to its recoverable amount was recognised in “Other 

expense”. The recoverable amount of the equipment was based on their fair value less costs to sell.

5 Intangible assets

Group Company

Goodwill

Club 

membership Total

Club 

membership

$ $ $ $

Cost

At 1 January 2009 626,131 95,000 721,131 95,000

Acquisition through business combinations 547,355 – 547,355 –

Effect of movements in exchange rates 19,011 – 19,011 –

At 31 December 2009 1,192,497 95,000 1,287,497 95,000

At 1 January 2010 1,192,497 95,000 1,287,497 95,000

Effect of movements in exchange rates (117,772) – (117,772) –

At 31 December 2010 1,074,725 95,000 1,169,725 95,000

Accumulated amortisation and 

 impairment losses

At 1 January 2009 – 53,000 53,000 53,000

Amortisation – 3,000 3,000 3,000

At 31 December 2009 – 56,000 56,000 56,000

At 1 January 2010 – 56,000 56,000 56,000

Amortisation – 3,000 3,000 3,000

At 31 December 2010 – 59,000 59,000 59,000

Carrying amounts

At 1 January 2009 626,131 42,000 668,131 42,000

At 31 December 2009 1,192,497 39,000 1,231,497 39,000

At 31 December 2010 1,074,725 36,000 1,110,725 36,000



Tat Seng Packaging Group Ltd  •  Annual Report 201050

Notes to the Financial Statements

5 Intangible assets (cont’d)

Annual impairment tests for cash-generating units containing goodwill

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to the Group’s cash-generating units (CGU) identified 

according to reportable segment as follows:

Group

2010 2009

$ $

Singapore 17,684 17,684

People’s Republic of China 1,057,041 1,174,813

1,074,725 1,192,497

The recoverable amount of a CGU is determined annually based on value-in-use calculations. These calculations 

use cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by management covering a period of five 

years.

For the purpose of analysing each CGU, management used the following key assumptions:

Group

Growth rate Discount

rate

% %

2010

Singapore 4 6

People’s Republic of China 3-8 11

2009

Singapore 4 7

People’s Republic of China 3-6 10

The forecasted growth rate is estimated based on past performance and the expectations of market developments 

relevant to each of the CGU. Discount rates reflect the current market assessment of the risks specific to each 

CGU. This is the benchmark used by management to assess operating performance and to evaluate future 

investment proposals. In determining appropriate discount rates for each CGU, regard has been given to the 

weighted average cost of capital to each CGU at the beginning of the budgeted year. Gross margins are based 

on average values achieved in the year preceding the start of the budget period. These are increased over the 

budget period for anticipated efficiency improvements. The Group believes that any reasonably possible change 

in the above key assumptions is not likely to materially cause the recoverable amount to be lower than its 

carrying amount.
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6 Investment in subsidiaries

Company

2010 2009

$ $

Equity investments at cost 23,291,432 21,989,181

Name

Country of

incorporation Principal activities Ownership interest

2010 2009

% %

Held by the Company:

United Packaging Industries 

 Pte. Ltd. (i)

Singapore Manufacture and sales of 

corrugated boards, corrugated 

cartons and other packaging 

products

100 100

Tat Seng Packaging 

 (Suzhou) Co., Ltd. (ii)

People’s 

Republic of 

China

Manufacture and sales of 

corrugated boards, corrugated 

cartons and other packaging 

products

100 100

Hefei Dansun Packaging 

 Co., Ltd. (ii)

People’s 

Republic of 

China

Manufacture and sales of 

corrugated boards, corrugated 

cartons and other packaging 

products

94.4 80

Held through Tat Seng Packaging 

 (Suzhou) Co., Ltd:

Nantong Hengcheng Paper 

 Industry Co., Ltd (ii)

People’s 

Republic of 

China

Manufacture and sales of 

corrugated boards

70 70

Held through Nantong Hengcheng 

 Paper Industry Co., Ltd:

Nantong Tat Seng Packaging 

 Co., Ltd (ii)

People’s 

Republic of 

China

Manufacture and sales of 

corrugated boards

100 100

(i) Audited by KPMG LLP, Singapore

(ii) Audited by KPMG Huazhen for group consolidation purposes
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7 Loans to subsidiaries

Company

2010 2009

$ $

Current

Loan to Hefei Dansun Packaging Co., Ltd. 1,325,000 720,000

Loan to United Packaging Industries Pte. Ltd. 784,411 1,200,000

2,109,411 1,920,000

Non-current

Loan to Hefei Dansun Packaging Co., Ltd. 3,075,000 1,980,000

Loan to United Packaging Industries Pte. Ltd. – 784,411

3,075,000 2,764,411

The loans to Hefei Dansun Packaging Co., Ltd and United Packaging Industries Pte. Ltd. are unsecured and bears 

interest at 5.5% per annum (2009: 5.5%).

8 Investment securities

Group and Company

2010 2009

$ $

Available-for-sale financial assets

Quoted equity instruments 640,000 576,000

Quoted equity instruments and their dividends receivable are denominated in Singapore dollar. Quoted equity 

instruments are stated at market value determined on an individual basis.
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9 Deferred tax assets and liabilities

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following:

Assets Liabilities

2010 2009 2010 2009

$ $ $ $

Group

Property, plant and equipment (320,034) – 955,286 606,741

Provisions (347,856) (405,532) – –

Other receivables – – 60,210 –

Deferred tax (assets)/liabilities (667,890) (405,532) 1,015,496 606,741

Set off of tax 211,531 (203,279) (211,531) 203,279

Net deferred tax(assets)/liabilities (456,359) (608,811) 803,965 810,020

Company

Property, plant and equipment – – 187,305 224,359

Provisions (34,757) (19,230) – –

Other receivables – – 60,210 –

Deferred tax (assets)/liabilities (34,757) (19,230) 247,515 224,359

Set off of tax 34,757 19,230 (34,757) (19,230)

Net deferred tax(assets)/liabilities – – 212,758 205,129

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set-off current tax assets 

against current tax liabilities and when the deferred taxes relate to the same taxation authority.
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9 Deferred tax assets and liabilities (cont’d)

Movements in temporary differences during the year:

At 1 

January 

2009

Recognised 

in profit 

or loss

Exchange 

differences

At 31 

December 

2009

Recognised 

in profit 

or loss

Exchange 

differences

At 31 

December 

2010

$ $ $ $ $ $ $

Group

Property plant and

 equipment 555,606 39,579 11,556 606,741 4,734 23,777 635,252

Provisions (148,306) (254,544) (2,682) (405,532) 42,301 15,375 (347,856)

Other receivables – – – – 60,210 – 60,210

Total 407,300 (214,965) 8,874 201,209 107,245 39,152 347,606

At 1 

January 

2009

Recognised 

in profit 

or loss

At 31 

December 

2009

Recognised 

in profit 

or loss

At 31 

December 

2010 

$ $ $ $ $

Company

Property plant and equipment 291,496 (67,137) 224,359 (37,054) 187,305

Provisions (32,373) 13,143 (19,230) (15,527) (34,757)

Other receivables – – – 60,210 60,210

Total 259,123 (53,994) 205,129 7,629 212,758

Unrecognised temporary differences

The following temporary differences have not been recognised:

Group

2010 2009

$ $

Unutilised tax losses 64,149 –

The unutilised tax losses are subject to agreement by the tax authorities and compliance with tax regulations 

in the country in which the subsidiary operates. Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the 

unutilized tax losses because it is not probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the 

subsidiary concerned can utilise the benefit.
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10 Inventories

Group Company

2010 2009 2010 2009

$ $ $ $

Raw materials 17,350,775 12,412,281 1,760,370 1,902,820

Work-in-progress 667,032 557,507 119,328 117,544

Finished goods 1,774,836 1,421,134 343,030 234,103

Goods-in-transit 199,894 205,694 199,894 154,760

Machinery parts 284,381 331,851 61,139 20,319

20,276,918 14,928,467 2,483,761 2,429,546

Group

2010 2009

$ $

Inventories recognised in cost of sales 126,436,608 88,212,842

Allowance/(reversal of allowance) for inventory obsolescence 75,831 (18,624)

11 Trade and bills receivables

Group Company

2010 2009 2010 2009

$ $ $ $

Trade receivables 31,086,176 32,717,030 3,111,145 3,682,824

Bills receivables 19,471,626 7,270,977 – –

50,557,802 39,988,007 3,111,145 3,682,824

12 Other receivables and deposits

Group Company

Note 2010 2009 2010 2009

$ $ $ $

Other receivables 265,102 290,385 1,916 –

Deposits 210,513 137,832 117,334 74,189

33 475,615 428,217 119,250 74,189

Advance to suppliers 10,815,279 1,728,426 – –

11,290,894 2,156,643 119,250 74,189

13 Amounts due from/(to) related parties

The amounts due from/(to) subsidiaries and holding company are non-trade related, unsecured, non-interest 

bearing and are to be settled in cash.
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14 Cash and cash equivalents

Group Company

2010 2009 2010 2009

$ $ $ $

Fixed deposits 4,500,000 1,000,000 4,500,000 1,000,000

Cash at banks and in hand 16,237,276 14,621,683 2,653,214 2,948,253

20,737,276 15,621,683 7,153,214 3,948,253

Included in the cash and bank balances is an amount of $3,496,498 (2009: $2,372,030) pledged to banks for 

bills payable facilities of subsidiaries (Note 19).

Cash and bank balances totalling the equivalent of $11,197,970 (2009: $9,677,564) are held in a country which 

operates foreign exchange controls.

For the purpose of the consolidated cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise the following as 

at 31 December:

Group

2010 2009

$ $

Fixed deposits 4,500,000 1,000,000

Cash at banks and in hand 16,237,276 14,621,683

20,737,276 15,621,683

Cash and bank balances pledged as security for bills payable 

 granted to the Group (3,496,498) (2,372,030)

Cash and cash equivalents 17,240,778 13,249,653

15 Share capital

Group and Company

2010 2009

No. of shares No. of shares

Fully paid ordinary shares, with no par value

1 January/31 December 157,200,000 157,200,000

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as and when declared by the Company. All 

ordinary shares carry one vote per share without restrictions.
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16 Other reserves

Group Company

2010 2009 2010 2009

$ $ $ $

Fair value adjustment reserve 192,000 128,000 192,000 128,000

Foreign currency translation reserve (669,827) 1,182,799 – –

Statutory reserve fund 2,535,514 2,015,126 – –

Capital reserve 3,565,694 3,745,523 – –

5,623,381 7,071,448 192,000 128,000

Fair value adjustment reserve represents the cumulative fair value changes, net of tax, of available-for-sale 

financial assets until they are disposed of or impaired.

The foreign currency translation reserve represents exchange differences arising from the translation of the 

financial statements of foreign operations whose functional currencies are different from that of the Group’s 

presentation currency.

In accordance with the Foreign Enterprise Law applicable to the subsidiaries in the People’s Republic of China 

(PRC), these subsidiaries are required to make appropriation to statutory reserve fund (SRF). At least 10% of 

the statutory after tax profits as determined in accordance with the applicable PRC accounting standards and 

regulations must be allocated to the SRF until the cumulative total of the SRF reaches 50% of the subsidiaries’ 

registered capital. Subject to approval from the relevant PRC authorities, the SRF may be used to offset any 

accumulated losses or increase the registered capital of the subsidiaries. The SRF is not available for dividend 

distribution to shareholders.

The capital reserve represents the capitalisation of retained earnings of a subsidiary of the Group. The subsidiary 

capitalised its retained earnings in 2002 and 2005 in view of its expansion plans.

Capital reserve also arises from equity transactions relating to a change in the parent’s ownership interest that 

do not result in a loss of control. The difference between the amount by which non-controlling interests are 

adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid was recognised directly in capital reserve accordingly.
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17 Deferred capital grant

Group

2010 2009

$ $

Cost

At 1 January 154,642 158,300

Exchange differences (7,761) (3,658)

At 31 December 146,881 154,642

Amortisation

At 1 January 25,631 6,279

Amortisation 14,488 20,142

Exchange differences (1,698) (790)

At 31 December 38,421 25,631

Current 10,935 14,819

Non-current 97,525 114,192

108,460 129,011

Deferred capital grant relates to subsidies received for the acquisition of factory building and plant and machinery 

by a subsidiary. The grant is amortised to match the depreciation of the related property, plant and equipment 

acquired. There are no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies attached to this grant.

18 Loans and borrowings

Group Company

2010 2009 2010 2009

$ $ $ $

Non-current

Unsecured loan from holding company 6,000,000 – 6,000,000 –

Secured obligations under finance lease – 96,704 – –

6,000,000 96,704 6,000,000 –

Current

Secured loans 3,708,693 3,904,652 – –

Unsecured loans 6,202,064 7,096,749 – –

Secured obligations under finance lease 91,515 270,181 – –

10,002,272 11,271,582 – –
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18 Loans and borrowings (cont’d)

Finance lease commitments

The Group has finance lease for certain items of plant and equipment. These leases have options to purchase 

at an agreed price which is stated in the agreement.

Future minimum lease payments under finance leases together with the present value of the net minimum lease 

payments are as follows:

Minimum 

lease 

payment

Present 

value of 

payment

Minimum 

lease 

payment

Present 

value of 

payment

2010 2010 2009 2009

$ $ $ $

Group

Within 1 year 92,704 91,515 283,227 270,181

After 1 year but within 5 years – – 97,587 96,704

Total minimum lease payments 92,704 91,515 380,814 366,885

Less: Amounts representing finance charges (1,189) – (13,929) –

Present value of minimum lease payments 91,515 91,515 366,885 366,885

Terms and conditions of outstanding loans and borrowings are as follows:

Nominal Group

interest rate Maturity 2010 2009

$ $

Obligation under finance leases (secured) 8.09–8.29% 2011 91,515 366,885

Renminbi (“RMB”) loan A (secured) 5.31% 2010 – 3,904,652

RMB loan B (secured) 5.31–5.56% 2011 3,708,693 –

RMB loan C (unsecured) 2.43–5.58% 2010 – 7,096,749

RMB loan D (unsecured) 5.00% 2011 5,855,830 –

USD loan E (unsecured) 3.60% 2011 346,234 –

Loan with holding company (unsecured) 4.00% 2014 6,000,000 –

16,002,272 11,368,286

19 Bills payable to banks

The bills payable of the Company are unsecured and non-interest bearing. The bills payable of the subsidiaries are 

secured by the leasehold land, certain leasehold buildings, certain plant and machinery, cash and bank balances 

of the subsidiaries, and are non-interest bearing and mature within 6 months from the financial year end.
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20 Trade and other payables

Group Company

2010 2009 2010 2009

$ $ $ $

Trade payables 28,449,000 12,996,633 510,527 797,894

Other payables 3,228,595 2,035,856 399,907 302,311

31,677,595 15,032,489 910,434 1,100,205

21 Other liabilities

Group Company

2010 2009 2010 2009

$ $ $ $

Accrued operating expenses 3,675,116 3,399,375 1,950,771 1,881,742

Accrued staff remuneration 1,908,831 1,378,724 690,816 662,454

Others 207,895 165,429 80,000 51,542

5,791,842 4,943,528 2,721,587 2,595,738

22 Other income

The following items have been included in arising at other income:

Group

2010 2009

$ $

Gain on disposal of investment securities – 61

Dividend income from investment securities 38,400 265,600

Interest income from fixed deposit and others 115,251 72,262

Net gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment 21,180 6,179

23 Other expenses

The following items have been included in arriving at other operating expenses:

Group

2010 2009

$ $

Net foreign exchange loss 219,203 56,286

Impairment loss of property, plant and equipment – 166,451

Property, plant and equipment written off 22,089 96,306
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24 Finance costs

Group

2010 2009

$ $

Interest expenses on loans and borrowings 868,401 601,253

Bank charges 135,688 65,502

1,004,089 666,755

25 Profit before income tax

The following items have been included in arriving at profit before income tax:

Group

2010 2009

$ $

Non-audit fees paid to:

 – auditors of the Company – 19,200

 – other auditors 56,010 –

Director’s fees 214,000 223,000

Staff costs, net of jobs credit scheme 17,978,519 15,366,495

Contributions to defined contribution plans, included in staff costs 1,243,086 1,055,854

Operating lease expenses 3,120,053 2,974,412

Included in staff costs is an amount of $68,041 (2009: $331,745) in relation to jobs credit scheme received 

from government.
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26 Income tax expense

Group

2010 2009

$ $

Current tax expense

Current year 1,974,221 2,026,923

Overprovision in respect of previous years (337,750) (209,479)

1,636,471 1,817,444

Deferred tax expense

Movement in temporary differences (117,359) (148,801)

Reduction in tax rate (925) (55,833)

Under/(over) provision in respect of previous years 225,529 (10,331)

1,743,716 1,602,479

Reconciliation of effective tax rate

Profit before income tax 8,251,512 9,490,499

Tax at applicable rate of 17% (2009: 17%) 1,402,757 1,613,385

Non deductible expenses 105,366 380,171

Income not subject to tax (140,329) (498,106)

Effect of partial tax exemption (25,925) (47,387)

Reduction in tax rate (925) (55,833)

Effect of different tax rates in other countries 555,918 496,645

Overprovision in respect of previous years (112,221) (219,810)

Deferred tax assets not recognised 16,037 –

Others (56,962) (66,586)

1,743,716 1,602,479
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27 Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing profit for the year, net of tax, attributable to owners 

of the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year.

Diluted earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing profit for the year, net of tax, attributable to 

owners of the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year plus the 

weighted average number of ordinary shares that would be issued on the conversion of all the dilutive potential 

ordinary shares into ordinary shares.

The following tables reflect the profit and loss and share data used in the computation of basic and diluted 

earnings per share for the years ended 31 December:

Group

2010 2009

$ $

Profit net of tax attributable to owners of the Company 6,225,431 7,447,316

No. of shares

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for basic and 

 diluted earnings per share computation 157,200,000 157,200,000

As there are no share options and warrants in issue as at the financial year end, the basic and fully diluted 

earnings per share are the same.

28 Dividends

Group and Company

2010 2009

$ $

Declared and paid during the financial year:

Interim exempt (one-tier) dividend at $0.01 (2009: $0.01) per 

 ordinary share 1,572,000 1,572,000
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29 Acquisitions of subsidiary and non-controlling interest

(a) Acquisition of subsidiary, Nantong Hengcheng Paper Industry Co., Ltd

On 30 September 2009, the Company’s subsidiary Tat Seng Packaging (Suzhou) Co., Ltd. acquired 70% 

of the voting shares of Nantong Hengcheng Paper Industry Co., Ltd. (“Nantong Hengcheng”), a company 

based in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”) specializing in the manufacture of corrugated paper 

boards.

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of Nantong Hengcheng as at the date of acquisition 

and the corresponding carrying amounts immediately before the acquisition were:

Recognised 

on acquisition

Carrying 

amount 

before 

combination

$ $

Property, plant and equipment 580,489 580,489

Trade and bills receivables 805,563 805,563

Other receivables and deposits 231,811 231,811

Inventories 1,291,095 1,291,095

Prepaid operating expenses 17,817 17,817

Cash and cash equivalents 90,552 90,552

3,017,327 3,017,327

Trade and other payables (1,922,466) (1,922,466)

Other liabilities (239,882) (239,882)

Income tax payable (81,512) (81,512)

(2,243,860) (2,243,860)

Total identifiable net assets 773,467 773,467

Goodwill arising on acquisition 547,355

1,320,822

Non-controlling interests (232,040)

Total purchase consideration 1,088,782

Cost of acquisition

Cash settlement 1,088,782

Total cost of acquisition 1,088,782

Net cash acquired with the subsidiary 90,552

Cash paid (1,088,782)

Net cash outflow on acquisition (998,230)

From the date of acquisition to 31 December 2009, Nantong Hengcheng has contributed $104,385 to 

the Group’s profit net of tax. If the combination had taken place at the beginning of the financial year, 

the Group’s profit from continuing operations, net of tax would have been $8,112,482 and revenue from 

continuing operations would have been $120,754,604.



Annual Report 2010  •  Tat Seng Packaging Group Ltd  65        

Notes to the Financial Statements

29 Acquisitions of subsidiary and non-controlling interest (cont’d)

(a) Acquisition of subsidiary, Nantong Hengcheng Paper Industry Co., Ltd (cont’d)

The goodwill of $547,355 arising from the acquisition of Nantong Hengcheng has been reflected under 

the balance sheets as an intangible asset, and is attributed to the excess of the purchase consideration 

over the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired.

In the absence of fair value information pertaining to valuation of land, the Group used the book value 

in the calculation of goodwill. The Group has since carried out a review to assess the fair value and 

determined that the carrying amount of the land was not significantly different from the fair value. 

Hence, no adjustment has been made to the carrying value of the goodwill and the identifiable assets 

and liabilities.

The goodwill is attributable mainly to the potential profitability of the acquired business and the synergies 

expected to arise from optimization of management resources.

(b) Acquisition of non-controlling interests

In April 2010, the Group acquired an additional 14.4% interest in Hefei Dansun Packaging Co., Ltd 

(“Hefei”) for $1,302,250 in cash, increasing its ownership from 80% to 94.4%. The carrying amount 

of Hefei’s net assets in the Group’s financial statements on the date of the acquisition was $7,794,593. 

The Group recognized a decrease in non-controlling interests of $1,122,421 and a decrease in capital 

reserve of $179,829.

The following summarises the effect of changes in the Company’s ownership interest in Hefei:

$

Company’s ownership interest at the beginning of the year 6,003,023

Effect of increase in Company’s ownership interest 1,122,421

Share of comprehensive income 1,017,618

Company’s ownership interest at the end of the year 8,143,062

30 Banking facilities

The banking facilities of the Group and of the Company as at the year end were as follows:

Group Company

2010 2009 2010 2009

$ $ $ $

Loan and trade financing facilities 69,401,479 60,565,492 10,000,000 7,000,000

Overdraft facilities 4,500,000 4,000,000 2,500,000 2,000,000

Foreign exchange contracts 7,500,000 4,500,000 5,500,000 2,500,000

The banking facilities of its subsidiaries are secured by the leasehold land, certain leasehold buildings and certain 

plant and machinery of its subsidiaries.
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31 Related parties

For the purpose of these financial statements, parties are considered to be related to the Group if the Group 

has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the party or exercise significant influence over the party in making 

the financial and operating decisions, or vice versa, or where the Group and the party are subject to common 

control or common significant influence. Related parties may be individuals or other entities.

During the year, other than disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, there were the following significant 

transactions with related parties:

Group Company

2010 2009 2010 2009

$ $ $ $

Holding company:

Interest expense 93,375 – 93,375 –

Subsidiaries:

Sales – – (30,966) –

Interest income – – (252,745) (303,240)

Sale of plant and equipment – – (30,080) –

Management fee income – – (935,314) (800,462)

Purchases – – 48,912 –

Purchase of plant and equipment – – 5,284 –

Related parties:

Sales (8,471) (4,676) (8,471) (4,676)

Key management personnel compensation

Key management personnel compensation comprised:

Group

2010 2009

$ $

Short-term employee benefits 1,773,216 1,787,307

Central Provident Fund contributions 27,431 21,118

Other short-term benefits 69,024 69,038

Total compensation paid to Executive Directors of the Company, 

 included in staff costs 1,869,671 1,877,463

The management considers that there were no key management personnel other than the Executive Directors.
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Lease commitments

The Group has entered into commercial leases on certain factory equipments, office equipments and leasehold 

land and properties. These non-cancellable leases have remaining lease terms of between 1 to 36 years. Lease 

terms do not contain restrictions on the Group’s activities concerning dividends, additional debt or further leasing. 

One of the leasehold properties contains a clause to enable upward revisions of rental charge by 7% in June 

2010 and 7% every 3 years thereafter.

At balance sheet date, commitments of the Group and the Company for minimum lease payments under non-

cancellable operating leases are as follows:

Group Company

2010 2009 2010 2009

$ $ $ $

Within 1 year 2,994,943 3,001,535 1,553,336 1,526,474

After 1 year but within 5 years 9,686,962 11,320,889 6,279,001 6,180,637

More than 5 years 12,066,156 13,744,663 11,425,241 13,028,101

24,748,061 28,067,087 19,257,578 20,735,212

Capital commitments

Capital expenditure contracted for as at the balance sheet date but not recognised in the financial statements 

are as follows:

Group Company

2010 2009 2010 2009

$ $ $ $

Capital commitments in respect of purchase of 

 property, plant and equipment 4,937,538 2,724,544 7,188 –

Corporate guarantees

At balance sheet date, the Company provided corporate guarantees amounting to $10,500,000 (2009: 

$10,500,000) to banks for banking facilities of $12,500,000 (2009: $12,500,000) made available to its subsidiary, 

of which the subsidiary has utilised $1,085,295 (2009: $1,156,323).
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33 Financial risk management

Overview

Risk management is integral to the whole business of the Group. The Group has a system of controls in place 

to create an acceptable balance between the cost of risks occurring and the cost of managing the risks. The 

management continually monitors the Group’s risk management process to ensure that an appropriate balance 

between risk and control is achieved. Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect 

changes in market conditions and the Group’s activities. It is, and has been throughout the current and previous 

financial year the Group’s practice that no derivatives shall be undertaken. The Group and the Company do not 

apply hedge accounting.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of loss that may arise on outstanding financial instruments should a counterparty default on 

its obligations. The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk arises primarily from trade and other receivables.

Credit risk is managed through the application of credit approvals, credit limits and monitoring procedures. For 

other financial assets (including investment securities and cash and cash equivalents), the Group and the Company 

minimise credit risk by dealing with reputable counterparties. As at 31 December 2010, the Group’s concentration 

of credit risk by geographical locations is mainly in Singapore and the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”).

The Group determines concentrations of credit risk by monitoring the country of its trade receivables on an 

on-going basis. The credit risk concentration profile of the Group’s trade by country at the balance sheet date 

is as follows:

2010 2009

$ % of total $ % of total

Singapore 7,554,740 15% 7,744,367 19%

PRC 43,003,062 85% 32,243,640 81%

50,557,802 100% 39,988,007 100%
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Impairment losses

The ageing of trade receivables at the balance sheet date is:

Gross

Impairment 

losses Gross

Impairment 

losses

2010 2010 2009 2009

$ $ $ $

Group

Not past due 45,997,570 101,327 34,752,577 –

Past due 0 – 90 days 4,616,864 120,984 4,589,131 819

Past due 91 – 180 days 218,746 56,994 232,491 28,168

More than 180 days 62,113 58,186 507,658 64,863

50,895,293 337,491 40,081,857 93,850

Company

Not past due 2,363,316 – 2,413,418 –

Past due 0 – 90 days 747,044 – 812,363 –

Past due 91 – 180 days 45,885 45,100 62,378 13,198

More than 180 days – – 407,963 100

3,156,245 45,100 3,696,122 13,298

The change in impairment losses in respect of trade receivables during the year is as follows:

Group Company

2010 2009 2010 2009

$ $ $ $

At 1 January 93,850 78,971 13,298 21,911

Impairment losses recognised/(written back) 248,839 21,402 31,802 (8,613)

Write off – (5,836) – –

Translation difference on consolidation (5,198) (687) – –

At 31 December 337,491 93,850 45,100 13,298

Trade receivables that are individually determined to be impaired at the balance sheet date relate to debtors 

that are in significant financial difficulties and have defaulted on payments. These receivables are not secured 

by any collateral or credit enhancements.

Trade and other receivables that are neither past due nor impaired are creditworthy debtors with good payment 

record with the Group. Cash and cash equivalents and investment securities that are neither past due nor impaired 

are placed with or entered into with reputable financial institutions or companies with high credit ratings and 

no history of default.



Tat Seng Packaging Group Ltd  •  Annual Report 201070

Notes to the Financial Statements

33 Financial risk management (cont’d)

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group or the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting financial obligations 
due to shortage of funds. Liquidity risk arises in the general funding of the Group’s operating activities. It 
includes the risk of not being able to fund operating activities at settlement dates and liquidate positions in a 
timely manner at a reasonable price.

The Group manages its liquidity risk by ensuring the availability of funding through diverse sources of committed 
and uncommitted credit facilities from various banks and maintaining adequate cash and cash equivalents.

The following are the expected contractual undiscounted cash outflows of financial liabilities, including interest 
payments and excluding the impact of netting agreements:

Cash flows

Carrying 
amount

Contractual 
cash flows

Within
1 year

More than 
1 year

$ $ $ $
Group

2010
Trade and other payables 31,677,595 31,677,595 31,677,595 –
Bills payable to banks 26,658,707 26,658,707 26,658,707 –
Loans and borrowings 16,002,272 17,175,691 10,455,691 6,720,000
Other liabilities 5,791,842 5,791,842 5,791,842 –
Amounts due to holding company 93,375 93,375 93,375 –

80,223,791 81,397,210 74,677,210 6,720,000

2009
Trade and other payables 15,032,489 15,032,489 15,032,489 –
Bills payable to banks 16,423,295 16,423,295 16,423,295 –
Loans and borrowings 11,368,286 11,642,690 11,545,103 97,587
Other liabilities 4,943,528 4,943,528 4,943,528 –

47,767,598 48,042,002 47,944,415 97,587

Company

2010
Trade and other payables 910,434 910,434 910,434 –
Bills payable to banks 199,522 199,522 199,522 –
Loans and borrowings 6,000,000 6,960,000 240,000 6,720,000
Other liabilities 2,721,587 2,721,587 2,721,587 –
Amounts due to holding company 93,375 93,375 93,375 –

Recognised financial liabilities 9,924,918 10,884,918 4,164,918 6,720,000
Intragroup financial guarantee 1,085,295 10,500,000 10,500,000 –

11,010,213 21,384,918 14,664,918 6,720,000

2009
Trade and other payables 1,100,205 1,100,205 1,100,205 –
Bills payable to banks 154,760 154,760 154,760 –
Other liabilities 2,595,738 2,595,738 2,595,738 –

Recognised financial liabilities 3,850,703 3,850,703 3,850,703 –
Intragroup financial guarantee 1,156,323 10,500,000 10,500,000 –

5,007,026 14,350,703 14,350,703 –



Annual Report 2010  •  Tat Seng Packaging Group Ltd  71        

Notes to the Financial Statements

33 Financial risk management (cont’d)

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates and foreign exchange rates will 

affect the Group’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market risk 

management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising 

the return on risk.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of the Group’s financial instruments will 

fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The Group’s exposure to interest rate risks arise primarily 

from their loans and borrowings. The Group’s policy is to maintain the bank borrowings to the minimum, and 

to obtain the most favourable interest rates available without increasing its foreign exchange exposure.

Surplus funds in the Group are placed in deposits with banks and are subject to interest rate risk.

At the reporting date, the interest rate profile of the interest-bearing financial instruments was:

Group Company

Carrying amount Carrying amount

2010 2009 2010 2009

$ $ $ $

Fixed rate instruments

Financial assets 4,500,000 1,000,000 9,684,411 5,684,411

Financial liabilities (9,708,692) (6,891,241) (6,000,000) –

(5,208,692) (5,891,241) 3,684,411 5,684,411

Variable rate instruments

Financial assets 11,379,571 9,744,691 196,996 74,233

Financial liabilities (6,293,579) (4,477,046) – –

5,085,992 5,267,645 196,996 74,233

Fair value sensitivity analysis for fixed rate instruments

The Group does not account for any fixed rate instruments at fair value through profit or loss. Therefore, a 

change in interest rates at the reporting date would not affect the profit or loss.
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33 Financial risk management (cont’d)

Interest rate risk (cont’d)

Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments

A change of 1% (2009: 1%) in interest rates at the reporting date would have increased/(decreased) profit or loss 

(before any tax effects) by the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular 

foreign currency rates, remain constant. The analysis is performed on the same basis for 2009.

Profit or loss

Group Company

1% increase 1% decrease 1% increase 1% decrease

$ $ $ $

2010

Variable rate instruments 50,860 (50,860) 1,970 (1,970)

2009

Variable rate instruments 52,676 (52,676) 742 (742)

Foreign currency risk

The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk on sales and purchases that are denominated in a currency other 

than the functional currency of the respective companies in the Group. The currency giving rise to this risk is 

primarily the United States dollar.

Foreign currencies received are kept in foreign currency bank accounts and are used to make foreign currency 

payments so as to minimise the foreign exchange exposure. The Group is also exposed to currency translation 

risk arising from its net investments in PRC. The Group’s net investments in PRC are not hedged as currency 

positions in RMB is considered long-term in nature.

The Group’s exposures to foreign currencies (before inter-company elimination) are as follows:

2010 2009

US Dollars
Singapore 

dollars Others US Dollars
Singapore 

dollars Others
(“USD”) (“SGD”) (“USD”) (“SGD”)

$ $ $ $ $ $
Group

Trade and bills receivables 410,556 – – 346,661 – –
Other receivables and 
 deposits 38,502 – – – – –
Cash and cash equivalents 296,616 – – 121,989 – –
Trade and other payables (1,136,001) – (29,752) (773,816) – (10,828)
Loans and borrowings (346,234) – – – – –
Balances with related 
 parties – (5,032,997) – – (3,212,181) –

Net financial assets/
 (liabilities) (736,561) (5,032,997) (29,752) (305,166) (3,212,181) (10,828)
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33 Financial risk management (cont’d)

Foreign currency risk (cont’d)

2010 2009

US Dollars US Dollars

(“USD”) Others (“USD”) Others

$ $ $ $

Company

Trade and bills receivables 376,702 – 309,896 –

Other receivables and deposits 38,502 – – –

Cash and cash equivalents 196,996 – 74,233 –

Trade and other payables (262,068) (9,749) (124,170) (9,198)

Net financial assets/(liabilities) 350,132 (9,749) 259,959 (9,198)

Sensitivity analysis

A 5% (2009: 5%) strengthening of the above currencies against the functional currency of the respective 

subsidiaries of the Group and the Company at the reporting date would increase/(decrease) profit or loss by the 

amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant. 

The analysis is performed on the same basis for 2009.

Profit or loss

Group Company

$ $

31 December 2010

USD (36,828) 17,507

SGD (251,650) –

Others (1,488) (487)

31 December 2009

USD (15,258) 12,998

SGD (160,609) –

Others (541) (460)

A 5% (2009: 5%) weakening of the above currencies against the functional currency of the respective subsidiaries 

of the Group and the Company would have had the equal but opposite effect on the above currencies to the 

amounts shown above, on the basis that all other variables remain constant. The analysis is performed on the 

same basis for 2009.

Sensitivity analysis-equity price risk

A 2% (2009:2%) increase/(decrease) in the underlying prices of quoted equity security available-for-sale at the 

reporting date would increase/(decrease) equity of the Group and the Company by $12,800 (2009: $26,000). 

This analysis assumes that all other variables remain constant.
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33 Financial risk management (cont’d)

Estimation of fair values

The following summarises the significant methods and assumptions used in estimating the fair values of financial 

instruments of the Group and Company.

Financial assets and liabilities

The carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities with a maturity of less than one year are assumed to 

approximate their fair values because of the short period to maturity or are repriced frequently. The quoted 

equity securities are carried at fair value and measured based on quoted prices (unadjusted) from active markets 

at the balance sheet date (i.e. Level 1).

The fair values of financial assets and liabilities, together with the carrying amounts shown in the balance sheet, 

are as follows:

Note

Loans and 

receivables

Available-

for-sale

Other 

financial 

liabilities

Total 

carrying 

amount Fair value

$ $ $ $ $

Group

2010

Investment securities 8 – 640,000 – 640,000 640,000

Trade and bills receivables 11 50,557,802 – – 50,557,802 50,557,802

Other receivables and 

 deposits (i) 12 475,615 – – 475,615 475,615

Cash and cash equivalents 14 20,737,276 – – 20,737,276 20,737,276

Loans and borrowings 18 – – (16,002,272) (16,002,272) (15,722,595)

Bills payable to banks 19 – – (26,658,707) (26,658,707) (26,658,707)

Trade and other payables 20 – – (31,677,595) (31,677,595) (31,677,595)

Other liabilities 21 – – (5,791,842) (5,791,842) (5,791,842)

Amounts due to holding 

 company 13 – – (93,375) (93,375) (93,375)

71,770,693 640,000 (80,223,791) (7,813,098) (7,533,421)

2009

Investment securities 8 – 576,000 – 576,000 576,000

Trade and bills receivables 11 39,988,007 – – 39,988,007 39,988,007

Other receivables and

 deposits (i) 12 428,217 – – 428,217 428,217

Cash and cash equivalents 14 15,621,683 – – 15,621,683 15,621,683

Loans and borrowings 18 – – (11,368,286) (11,368,286) (11,368,286)

Bills payable to banks 19 – – (16,423,295) (16,423,295) (16,423,295)

Trade and other payables 20 – – (15,032,489) (15,032,489) (15,032,489)

Other liabilities 21 – – (4,943,528) (4,943,528) (4,943,528)

56,037,907 576,000 (47,767,598) 8,846,309 8,846,309

(i) Excludes advances to suppliers
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Estimation of fair values (cont’d)

Financial assets and liabilities (cont’d)

Company

Note

Loans and 

receivables

Available-

for-sale

Other 

financial 

liabilities

Total 

carrying 

amount Fair value

2010

Loans to subsidiaries 7 5,184,411 – – 5,184,411 5,178,765

Investment securities 8 – 640,000 – 640,000 640,000

Trade and bills receivables 11 3,111,145 – – 3,111,145 3,111,145

Other receivables and 

 deposits 12 119,250 – – 119,250 119,250

Amounts due from 

 subsidiaries 13 1,730,413 – – 1,730,413 1,730,413

Cash and cash equivalents 14 7,153,214 – – 7,153,214 7,153,214

Loans and borrowings 18 – – (6,000,000) (6,000,000) (5,720,323)

Bills payable to banks 19 – – (199,522) (199,522) (199,522)

Trade and other payables 20 – – (910,434) (910,434) (910,434)

Other liabilities 21 – – (2,721,587) (2,721,587) (2,721,587)

Amounts due to holding 

 company 13 – – (93,375) (93,375) (93,375)

17,298,433 640,000 (9,924,918) 8,013,515 8,287,546

2009

Loans to subsidiaries 7 4,684,411 – – 4,684,411 4,682,783

Investment securities 8 – 576,000 – 576,000 576,000

Trade and bills receivables 11 3,682,824 – – 3,682,824 3,682,824

Other receivables and 

 deposits 12 74,189 – – 74,189 74,189

Amounts due from 

 subsidiaries 13 1,444,563 – – 1,444,563 1,444,563

Cash and cash equivalents 14 3,948,253 – – 3,948,253 3,948,253

Bills payable to banks 19 – – (154,760) (154,760) (154,760)

Trade and other payables 20 – – (1,100,205) (1,100,205) (1,100,205)

Other liabilities 21 – – (2,595,738) (2,595,738) (2,595,738)

13,834,240 576,000 (3,850,703) 10,559,537 10,557,909
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34 Capital management

The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains a strong credit rating 

and healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and maximise shareholders value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic conditions. 

To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payments to shareholders, return 

capital to shareholders or issue new shares. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes during 

the years ended 31 December 2010 and 2009.

As disclosed in note 16, a subsidiary of the Group is required by the Foreign Enterprise Law of the PRC to 

contribute to and maintain a non-distributable statutory reserve fund whose utilisation is subject to approval by 

the relevant PRC authorities. This externally imposed capital requirement has been complied with by the above-

mentioned subsidiary for the financial years ended 31 December 2010 and 2009.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net debt divided by total capital plus net debt. The 

Group includes within net debt, loans and borrowings, trade and other payables, amounts due to holding 

company, other liabilities, bills payable to banks, less cash and cash equivalents. Capital includes equity 

attributable to the owners of the Company less the fair value adjustment reserve and the above mentioned 

restricted statutory reserve funds.

Group

2010 2009

$ $

Trade and other payables 31,677,595 15,032,489

Amounts due to holding company 93,375 –

Bills payable to banks 26,658,707 16,423,295

Loans and borrowings 16,002,272 11,368,286

Other liabilities 5,791,842 4,943,528

Less: Cash and cash equivalents (20,737,276) (15,621,683)

Net debt 59,486,515 32,145,915

Equity attributable to owners of the Company 56,659,846 53,974,870

Less: Fair value adjustment reserve (192,000) (128,000)

Less: Statutory reserve fund (2,535,514) (2,015,126)

Total capital 53,932,332 51,831,744

Capital and net debt 113,418,847 83,977,659

Gearing ratio 52% 38%
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35 Segment information

The Group has two reportable segments which are geographical segments namely Singapore and China. These 

geographical segments are managed separately because they require different marketing strategies and bear 

different financial and business risks.

Geographical segments are defined based on the location of the Group’s assets. Sales to external customers 

disclosed in geographical segments are based on the geographical location of its customers. These operating 

businesses are organised and managed separately with each segment representing a strategic business unit that 

serves different markets.

Allocation basis and transfer pricing

Segment results, assets and liabilities include items directly attributable to a segment as well as those that can 

be allocated on a reasonable basis. Unallocated items comprise mainly income tax and deferred tax liabilities.

Transfer prices between business segments are set on an arm’s length basis in a manner similar to transactions 

with third parties. Segment revenue, expenses and results include transfers between business segments. These 

transfers are eliminated on consolidation.

Singapore PRC Group

$ $ $

2010

Revenue:

Sales to external customers 41,862,442 111,421,942 153,284,384

Segment results 760,415 8,495,186 9,255,601

Finance cost (1,004,089)

Taxation (1,743,716)

Net profit for the year 6,507,796

Segment assets 26,790,829 113,128,415 139,919,244

Unallocated assets 456,359

Total assets 140,375,603

Segment liabilities 12,698,811 67,633,440 80,332,251

Unallocated liabilities 1,187,350

Total liabilities 81,519,601

Amortisation of club membership 3,000 – 3,000

Capital expenditure 259,523 8,479,032 8,738,555

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 791,808 2,697,232 3,489,040
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35 Segment information (cont’d)
Singapore PRC Group

$ $ $

2009

Revenue:

Sales to external customers 36,563,240 76,797,718 113,360,958

Segment results 1,613,064 8,544,190 10,157,254

Finance cost (666,755)

Taxation (1,602,479)

Net profit for the year 7,888,020

Segment assets 24,003,393 82,222,046 106,225,439

Unallocated assets 608,811

Total assets 106,834,250

Segment liabilities 5,970,955 41,925,654 47,896,609

Unallocated liabilities 1,814,586

Total liabilities 49,711,195

Amortisation of club membership 3,000 – 3,000

Capital expenditure 191,197 1,704,115 1,895,312

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 854,537 2,678,153 3,532,690

Impairment loss on property, plant and equipment – 166,451 166,451

36 Comparative information

Certain changes have been made to the comparative of the consolidated statement of cash flow whereby 

translation differences arising from consolidation of financial statements of foreign entities are allocated to 

individual streams of cash flows. Consequently, the following comparative figures in the consolidated cash flow 

statements have been reclassified:
As previously 

stated Restated

$ $

Consolidated cash flow statement

Year ended 31 December 2009

Cash flows from operating activities:

Net effect of exchange differences (538,253) (333,625)

Change in inventories (2,357,741) (2,433,280)

Change in trade and other receivables and prepaid operating expenses (17,473,396) (17,614,715)

Change in trade and other payables and other liabilities 14,153,259 14,336,049

Cash flows from financing activities:

Increase in pledged deposits (314,943) (357,852)

Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash held – (127,651)

The restatement of prior year consolidated statement of cash flow has no impact to the Group’s financial 

statements.

The comparative figures relating to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2009 were audited 

by another firm of certified public accountants.



Annual Report 2010  •  Tat Seng Packaging Group Ltd  79        

Land & Buildings

As at 31 December 2010

CHINA, SUZHOU

• Location : Suzhou Jiangsu Province, Wanting Town, 88 Wendu Road

• Usage : Factory premises, office building, dormitory, development

• Land area : 58,798.63 square meters

• Tenure : Leasehold

• 50 years lease of 33,333.5 square meters expiring on 14 December 
2045

• 50 years lease of 12,667.13 square meters expiring on 22 September 
2048

• 50 years lease of 12,798 square meters expiring on 12 February 
2051

• Ownership : 100% owned by Tat Seng Packaging (Suzhou) Co., Ltd.

• Net carrying amount : RMB33.5 million (approximately S$6.5 million)
as at 31 December 2010

CHINA, HEFEI

• Location : Hefei Anhui Province, 105, Zipeng Road

• Usage : Factory premises, office building

• Land area : 49,400 square meters

• Tenure : Leasehold

• 48 years lease of 35,800 square meters expiring in August 2053

• 49 years 8 months lease of 13,600 square meters expiring on 8 
December 2056

• Ownership : 100% owned by Hefei Dansun Packaging Co., Ltd.

• Net carrying amount : RMB31.3 million (approximately to S$6.1 million)
as at 31 December 2010

CHINA, NANTONG TAT SENG

• Location : Jiangsu Province, Nantong City, Xiting Town, Ting Nan Heng Road

• Usage : Factory premises, office building

• Land area : 26,586 square meters

• Tenure : Leasehold

• 50 years lease of 26,586 square meters expiring on 18 March 2060

• Ownership : 100% owned by Nantong Tat Seng Packaging Co., Ltd.

• Net carrying amount : RMB6.1 million (approximately to S$1.2 million)
as at 31 December 2010
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資產負債表
截日2010年12月31日

集團 公司
附註 2010 2009 2010 2009

$ $ $ $

非流動資產
產業及機器設備 4 35,021,699 31,430,422 1,416,819 1,676,837

無形資產 5 1,110,725 1,231,497 36,000 39,000

投資子公司 6 – – 23,291,432 21,989,181

子公司借款 7 – – 3,075,000 2,764,411

投資金融資產 8 640,000 576,000 640,000 576,000

遞延稅款資產 9 456,359 608,811 – –

37,228,783 33,846,730 28,459,251 27,045,429

流動資產
存貨 10 20,276,918 14,928,467 2,483,761 2,429,546

待攤費用 283,930 292,719 26,305 21,367

應收帳款及應收票據 11 50,557,802 39,988,007 3,111,145 3,682,824

其他應收款及抵押金 12 11,290,894 2,156,643 119,250 74,189

子公司借款 7 – – 2,109,411 1,920,000

子公司欠款 13 – – 1,730,413 1,444,563

現金和現金等同物 14 20,737,276 15,621,683 7,153,214 3,948,253

103,146,820 72,987,519 16,733,499 13,520,742

資產合計 140,375,603 106,834,249 45,192,750 40,566,171

股東權益
股本 15 31,440,000 31,440,000 31,440,000 31,440,000

未分配利潤 19,596,465 15,463,422 3,420,165 4,781,485

儲備 16 5,623,381 7,071,448 192,000 128,000

56,659,846 53,974,870 35,052,165 36,349,485

少數股東權益 2,196,156 3,148,184 – –

股東權益合計 58,856,002 57,123,054 35,052,165 36,349,485

非流動負債
遞延收益 17 97,525 114,192 – –

遞延應付稅款 9 803,965 810,020 212,758 205,129

貸款與借貸 18 6,000,000 96,704 6,000,000 –

6,901,490 1,020,916 6,212,758 205,129

流動負債
遞延收益 17 10,935 14,819 – –

本期應付稅款 383,385 1,004,566 2,909 160,854

貸款與借貸 18 10,002,272 11,271,582 – –

應付票據 19 26,658,707 16,423,295 199,522 154,760

應付賬款及其他應付款 20 31,677,595 15,032,489 910,434 1,100,205

其他負債 21 5,791,842 4,943,528 2,721,587 2,595,738

總公司欠款 13 93,375 – 93,375 –

74,618,111 48,690,279 3,927,827 4,011,557

負債合計 81,519,601 49,711,195 10,140,585 4,216,686

負債及股東權益合計 140,375,603 106,834,249 45,192,750 40,566,171

附註內容是財務報表的組成部份之一。
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綜合損益表
截日2010年12月31日

附註 2010 2009

$ $

收入 153,284,384 113,360,958

售出產品成本 (126,530,728) (88,681,535)

毛利 26,753,656 24,679,423

其他營業收入 22 376,691 540,983

分銷費用 (9,124,666) (7,605,695)

行政費用 (8,004,717) (7,076,257)

其他營業費用 23 (745,363) (381,200)

營業活動之盈利 9,255,601 10,157,254

金融費用 24 (1,004,089) (666,755)

稅前盈利 25 8,251,512 9,490,499

所得稅 26 (1,743,716) (1,602,479)

本期盈利 6,507,796 7,888,020

可歸屬
公司業主 6,225,431 7,447,316

少數股東權益 282,365 440,704

本期盈利 6,507,796 7,888,020

每股盈利
每股盈利基額與攤薄（分） 27 3.96 4.74

附註內容是財務報表的組成部份之一。
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Statistics of Shareholdings

As at 14 March 2011

Class of shares : Ordinary shares
Voting rights : One vote per share

DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDINGS BY SIZE OF SHAREHOLDINGS

Size of Shareholdings
No. of 

Shareholders % No. of Shares %

1 – 999 4 0.37 500 0.00
1,000 – 10,000 732 68.22 2,069,500 1.32
10,001 – 1,000,000 330 30.76 23,098,000 14.69
1,000,001 and above 7 0.65 132,032,000 83.99

Total 1,073 100.00 157,200,000 100.00

LIST OF 20 LARGEST REGISTERED SHAREHOLDERS

No. Name No. of Shares %

1 PSC CORPORATION LTD 100,529,000 63.95
2 LOH SEE MOON 23,580,000 15.00
3 SBS NOMINEES PTE LTD 2,202,000 1.40
4 PHILLIP SECURITIES PTE LTD 2,062,000 1.31
5 KOH SER KIONG 1,310,000 0.83
6 KIM TOON PRIVATE LIMITED 1,193,000 0.76
7 ANG HAO YAO 1,156,000 0.74
8 HANS SCHNIEWIND 800,000 0.51
9 MAYBAN NOMINEES (SINGAPORE) PTE LTD 668,000 0.42
10 CHEONG POH HUA 516,000 0.33
11 SEAH TENG TENG 502,000 0.32
12 SOPHIA ANG BEE LENG 501,000 0.32
13 LOO WAI HOONG MRS ANG WAI HOONG 468,000 0.30
14 TAN WAN CHER GERALDINE 447,000 0.28
15 UNITED OVERSEAS BANK NOMINEES PTE LTD 438,000 0.28
16 CIMB SECURITIES (SINGAPORE) PTE LTD 400,000 0.25
17 OCBC NOMINEES SINGAPORE PTE LTD 387,000 0.25
18 ANG BEE KIAT 338,000 0.22
19 LOW CHENG YEE (LU JINGYI) 323,000 0.21
20 LIM CHOONG SOONG 310,000 0.20

Total: 138,130,000 87.88

LIST OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS
(As recorded in the Register of Substantial Shareholders as at 14 March 2011)

Name of Substantial Shareholder
No. of Shares 

(Direct Interest)
No. of Shares 

(Deemed Interest) Total %

PSC Corporation Ltd 100,529,000 – 100,529,000 63.95
Loh See Moon (a Director) 23,580,000 – 23,580,000 15.00
Violet Profit Holdings Limited(1) – 100,529,000 100,529,000 63.95
Ku Yun-Sen(1) – 100,529,000 100,529,000 63.95
Goi Seng Hui(2) – 100,529,000 100,529,000 63.95
Super Group Ltd(2) – 100,529,000 100,529,000 63.95

1 Deemed interest arises from shares held by Violet Profit Holdings Limited and Ku Yun-Sen in PSC Corporation Ltd by virtue of 
section 7(4A) of the Companies Act, Cap.50.

2 Goi Seng Hui and Super Group Ltd are deemed to have an interest through PSC Corporation Ltd.

PERCENTAGE OF SHAREHOLDING HELD BY THE PUBLIC

Based on information available to the Company as at 14 March 2011, 20.56% of the issued ordinary shares of the Company is held 
by the public. Accordingly, the Company has complied with Rule 723 of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST.
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Notice of Annual General Meeting

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Annual General Meeting of Tat Seng Packaging Group Ltd (the “Company”) 
will be held at 348 Jalan Boon Lay, Singapore 619529 on Thursday, 28 April 2011 at 10.00 a.m. for the following 
purposes:-

AS ORDINARY BUSINESS

1. To receive and adopt the Directors’ Report and the Audited Financial Statements of the Company for the financial 
year ended 31 December 2010 together with the Auditors’ Report thereon. (Resolution 1)

2. To approve the Directors’ Fees of S$214,000 for the financial year ended 31 December 2010 (31 December 
2009: S$217,000). (Resolution 2)

3. To re-elect the following directors of the Company retiring pursuant to Article 91 of the Articles of Association 
of the Company:-

Mr Chee Teck Kwong Patrick (Resolution 3)
Mr Lien Kait Long (Resolution 4)
Ms Cheong Poh Hua (Resolution 5)

Mr Chee Teck Kwong Patrick will, upon re-election as director of the Company, remain as Chairman of the 
Remuneration Committee and a member of the Audit Committee and Nominating Committee respectively, and 
will be considered independent for the purposes of Rule 704(8) of the Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange 
Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”).

Mr Lien Kait Long will, upon re-election as director of the Company, remain as Chairman of the Audit Committee 
and a member of the Remuneration Committee and Nominating Committee respectively, and will be considered 
independent for the purposes of Rule 704(8) of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST.

4. To re-appoint Messrs KPMG LLP as the auditors of the Company and to authorise the directors of the Company 
to fix their remuneration.

(Resolution 6)

5. To transact any other ordinary business which may be properly transacted at an Annual General Meeting.

AS SPECIAL BUSINESS

To consider and, if thought fit, to pass the following ordinary resolution with or without modifications:-

6. Authority to issue shares in the capital of the Company pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies Act, Cap. 50 
and Rule 806 of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST.

That pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies Act, Cap. 50 and Rule 806 of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST, 
the directors of the Company be authorised and empowered to:

(a) (i) issue shares in the Company (“shares”) whether by way of rights, bonus or otherwise; and/or

(ii) make or grant offers, agreements or options (collectively, “Instruments”) that might or would 
require shares to be issued, including but not limited to the creation and issue of (as well as 
adjustments to) options, warrants, debentures or other instruments convertible into shares,

at any time and upon such terms and conditions and for such purposes and to such persons as the 
directors of the Company may in their absolute discretion deem fit; and

(b) (notwithstanding the authority conferred by this Resolution may have ceased to be in force) issue shares 
in pursuance of any Instrument made or granted by the directors of the Company while this Resolution 
was in force,

(the “Share Issue Mandate”)
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Notice of Annual General Meeting

provided that:

(1) the aggregate number of shares (including shares to be issued in pursuance of the Instruments, made 
or granted pursuant to this Resolution) and Instruments to be issued pursuant to this Resolution shall 
not exceed 50% of the total number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares) in the capital of the 
Company (as calculated in accordance with sub-paragraph (2) below), of which the aggregate number 
of shares and Instruments to be issued other than on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders of the 
Company shall not exceed 20% of the total number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares) in the 
capital of the Company (as calculated in accordance with sub-paragraph (2) below);

(2) (subject to such calculation as may be prescribed by the SGX-ST) for the purpose of determining the 
aggregate number of shares and Instruments that may be issued under sub-paragraph (1) above, the 
percentage of issued shares and Instruments shall be based on the number of issued shares (excluding 
treasury shares) in the capital of the Company at the time of the passing of this Resolution, after adjusting 
for:

(a) new shares arising from the conversion or exercise of the Instruments or any convertible 
securities;

(b) new shares arising from exercising share options or vesting of share awards outstanding and 
subsisting at the time of the passing of this Resolution; and

(c) any subsequent consolidation or subdivision of shares;

(3) in exercising the Share Issue Mandate conferred by this Resolution, the Company shall comply with the 
provisions of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST for the time being in force (unless such compliance has 
been waived by the SGX-ST) and the Articles of Association of the Company; and

(4) unless revoked or varied by the Company in a general meeting, the Share Issue Mandate shall continue in 
force (i) until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company or the date by which 
the next Annual General Meeting of the Company is required by law to be held, whichever is earlier or 
(ii) in the case of shares to be issued in pursuance of the Instruments, made or granted pursuant to this 
Resolution, until the issuance of such shares in accordance with the terms of the Instruments.

(See Explanatory Note (i))
(Resolution 7)

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD

Chew Kok Liang
Company Secretary
13 April 2011
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Explanatory Note:-

(i) Resolution 7, if passed, will empower the directors of the Company from the date of this Annual General Meeting 
until the date of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company, or the date by which the next Annual General 
Meeting of the Company is required by law to be held or such authority is varied or revoked by the Company in a 
general meeting, whichever is the earlier, to issue shares, make or grant instruments convertible into shares and to 
issue shares pursuant to such instruments, up to a number not exceeding, in total, 50% of the total number of issued 
shares (excluding treasury shares) in the capital of the Company, of which up to 20% may be issued other than on a 
pro rata basis to existing shareholders of the Company.

For determining the aggregate number of shares that may be issued, the percentage of issued shares in the capital of 
the Company will be calculated based on the total number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares) in the capital 
of the Company at the time this Resolution is passed after adjusting for new shares arising from the conversion or 
exercise of the Instruments or any convertible securities, the exercise of share options or the vesting of share awards 
outstanding or subsisting at the time when this Resolution is passed and any subsequent consolidation or subdivision 
of shares.

Notes:

1. A Member entitled to attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting (the “Meeting”) is entitled to appoint not more than two 
proxies to attend and vote in his/her stead. A proxy need not be a Member of the Company.

2. The instrument appointing a proxy must be deposited at the Registered Office of the Company at 28 Senoko Drive Singapore 
758214 not less than forty-eight (48) hours before the time appointed for holding the Meeting.
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TAT SENG PACKAGING GROUP LTD
(Company Registration No. 197702806M)
(Incorporated In the Republic of Singapore)

PROXY FORM
(Please see notes overleaf before completing this Form)

IMPORTANT:
1. For investors who have used their CPF monies to buy 

Tat Seng Packaging Group Ltd’s shares, this Report is 
forwarded to them at the request of the CPF Approved 
Nominees and is sent solely FOR INFORMATION 
ONLY.

2. This Proxy Form is not valid for use by CPF investors 
and shall be ineffective for all intents and purposes if 
used or purported to be used by them.

3. CPF investors who wish to attend the Meeting as an 
observer must submit their requests through their CPF 
Approved Nominees within the time frame specified. If 
they also wish to vote, they must submit their voting 
instructions to the CPF Approved Nominees within the 
time frame specified to enable them to vote on their 
behalf.

I/We,

of
being a *member/members of Tat Seng Packaging Group Ltd (the “Company”), hereby appoint:

Name NRIC/Passport No. Proportion of Shareholdings

No. of Shares %

Address

and/or (delete as appropriate)

Name NRIC/Passport No. Proportion of Shareholdings

No. of Shares %

Address

or failing the person, or either or both of the persons, referred to above, the Chairman of the Meeting as *my/our *proxy/proxies to 
vote for *me/us on *my/our behalf at the Annual General Meeting (the “Meeting”) of the Company to be held at 348 Jalan Boon 
Lay, Singapore 619529 on Thursday, 28 April 2011 at 10.00 a.m. and at any adjournment thereof. *I/We direct *my/our *proxy/
proxies to vote for or against the Resolutions proposed at the Meeting as indicated hereunder. If no specific direction as to voting 
is given or in the event of any other matter arising at the Meeting and at any adjournment thereof, the *proxy/proxies will vote or 
abstain from voting at *his/her discretion. The authority herein includes the right to demand or to join in demanding a poll and to 
vote on a poll.

(Please indicate your vote “For” or “Against” with a tick [✓] within the box provided.)

No. Resolutions relating to: For Against

1 Adoption of Directors’ Report and Audited Accounts for the year ended 31 
December 2010

2 Approval of Directors’ Fees amounting to S$214,000

3 Re-election of Mr Chee Teck Kwong Patrick as a Director

4 Re-election of Mr Lien Kait Long as a Director

5 Re-election of Ms Cheong Poh Hua as a Director

6 Re-appointment of Messrs KPMG LLP as Auditors

7 Authority to issue new shares

Dated this  day of  2011

Total number of Shares in: No. of Shares

(a) CDP Register

(b) Register of Members

Signature of Shareholder(s)
or, Common Seal of Corporate Shareholder

*Delete where inapplicable



Notes:

1. Please insert the total number of Shares held by you. If you have Shares entered against your name in the Depository Register 
(as defined in Section 130A of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 of Singapore), you should insert that number of Shares. If you 
have Shares registered in your name in the Register of Members, you should insert that number of Shares. If you have Shares 
entered against your name in the Depository Register and Shares registered in your name in the Register of Members, you 
should insert the aggregate number of Shares entered against your name in the Depository Register and registered in your 
name in the Register of Members. If no number is inserted, the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies shall be deemed to 
relate to all the Shares held by you.

2. A member of the Company entitled to attend and vote at a meeting of the Company is entitled to appoint one or two proxies 
to attend and vote in his/her stead. A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

3. Where a member appoints two proxies, the appointments shall be invalid unless he/she specifies the proportion of his/her 
shareholding (expressed as percentage of the whole) to be represented by each proxy.

4. Completion and return of this instrument appointing a proxy shall not preclude a member from attending and voting at the 
Meeting. Any appointment of a proxy or proxies shall be deemed to be revoked if a member attends the meeting in person, 
and in such event, the Company reserves the right to refuse to admit any person or persons appointed under the instrument 
of proxy to the Meeting.

5. The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be deposited at the registered office of the Company at 28 Senoko Drive, 
Singapore 758214 not later than 48 hours before the time appointed for the Meeting.

Fold along dotted line

AFFIX
STAMP

The Company Secretary
TAT SENG PACKAGING GROUP LTD

28 Senoko Drive
Singapore 758214

Fold along dotted line

6. The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be under the hand of the appointor or of his attorney duly authorised in 
writing. Where the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies is executed by a corporation, it must be executed either under 
its seal or under the hand of an officer or attorney duly authorised. Where the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies is 
executed by an attorney on behalf of the appointor, the letter or power of attorney or a duly certified copy thereof must be 
lodged with the instrument.

7. A corporation which is a member may authorise by resolution of its directors or other governing body such person as it thinks fit 
to act as its representative at the Meeting, in accordance with Section 179 of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 of Singapore.

General:

The Company shall be entitled to reject the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies if it is incomplete, improperly completed or 
illegible, or where the true intentions of the appointor are not ascertainable from the instructions of the appointor specified in the 
instrument appointing a proxy or proxies. In addition, in the case of Shares entered in the Depository Register, the Company may 
reject any instrument appointing a proxy or proxies lodged if the member, being the appointor, is not shown to have Shares entered 
against his name in the Depository Register as at 48 hours before the time appointed for holding the Meeting, as certified by The 
Central Depository (Pte) Limited to the Company.
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Tat Seng Packaging Group Ltd

28 Senoko Drive, Singapore 758214

Tel : (65) 6257 5558

Fax : (65) 6754 7953

E-mail : corpsec@tspg.sg

United Packaging Industries Pte. Ltd.

35 Tuas View Crescent, Singapore 637608

Tel : (65) 6861 0018

Fax : (65) 6861 2728

E-mail : sales@upi.sg

Tat Seng Packaging (Suzhou) Co., Ltd.

達成包裝製品 (蘇州) 有限公司
地址 : 蘇州市相城區望亭鎮問渡路88號, 郵編215155
電話 : (86) 0512-6538 0538
傳真 : (86) 0512-6538 9342
電子郵件 : salesa@tspg.com.cn

Nantong Hengcheng Paper Industry Co., Ltd.

南通恆成紙業有限公司
地址 : 江蘇省如皋市石莊鎮新生港綜合工業園區, 郵編 226531
電話 : (86) 0513-6816 3612
傳真 : (86) 0513-6816 3608

SINGAPORE

CHINA

Hefei Dansun Packaging Co., Ltd.

合肥丹盛包裝有限公司
地址 : 合肥市經濟技術開發區紫蓬路105號, 郵編230601
電話 : (86) 0551-3819 166
傳真 : (86) 0551-3810 123
電子郵件 : sales@hfds.com.cn

Nantong Tat Seng Packaging Co., Ltd.

南通達成包裝製品有限公司
地址 : 南通市通州區西亭鎮西禪寺村（亭南橫路）
電話 : (86) 0513-8653 8888
傳真 : (86) 0513-8653 3999




